
Date Published:8 September 2020     

COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING

Wednesday, 9 September 2020 at 10.00 am
Please note that this meeting will be held remotely and can be viewed on the County 
Council website at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

Chair’s Opening of Council

“May we find wisdom to carry out our duties, humanity to listen to all, the courage to do 
what is right and the generosity to treat each other with respect.”

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 14)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 24 June 2020. 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal interests that you may 
have relating to any specific matters which may be discussed at the meeting.

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


    

4  ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a) Virtual meeting protocol
To invite Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services, to provide information 
on how the meeting will be run and provide guidance on how to use the 
WebEx remote meeting software.

b) Peter Clarke
The Chairman to advise that former County Councillor Peter Clarke has sadly 
passed away.  He served on the County Council from 1995 to 2005 
representing the Gloucester Division of Barton and was Leader of the Council 
from 2001 to 2004.  He also served as a member of Gloucester City Council 
and Cotswold District Council.  Before standing as a councillor, Peter held a 
senior position in the Youth Service at the County Council.

Peter had a particular interest in education and was the first chair of the G40 
group of education authorities.  The group was set up to lobby for fairer 
funding for the 40 lowest funded education authorities in the country and still 
exists today.

c) Cllr Rachel Smith
The Chairman to inform members that Rachel is currently on parental leave 
but can still be contacted by email or through Democratic Services.  

d) Highways awards
Gloucestershire County Council’s Highways Team has won a prestigious 
national award from the Chartered Institution of Highways and Transportation 
(CIHT) for its work in partnership with Atkins and Ringway to deliver the 
county’s highway services.

Seven entries were shortlisted for the award including HS2, Transport for 
Scotland, Transport for West Midlands and the partnership delivering the M23 
Junction 8-10 scheme in Surrey.

e) Minerals Local Plan
The Council’s recently adopted Minerals Local Plan has been shortlisted as a 
finalist in this year’s Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) South West Awards 
for Planning Excellence. 

5  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.



    

To answer any written public questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the County Council.

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 2 September 
2020.  Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of 
Stephen Bace (email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk)

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will 
be circulated prior to the meeting.

6  CORPORATE PARENTING (Pages 15 - 50)

Cllr Richard Boyles, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years, to present the corporate parenting report.

7  PETITIONS 

To receive petitions presented by members without discussion.

8  MOTIONS (Pages 51 - 58)

The Council’s Constitution provides for a maximum of two hours for debate on 
motions.  The time limit for member speeches is three minutes and the time limit for 
proposing a motion is five minutes.

In accordance with Procedural Rule 10.2 in Part 4 of the Council Constitution, the 
Chief Executive has prepared a short accompanying note for each motion in respect 
of any implications for climate change, resources, human rights and any other 
pertinent factors they may wish to include in accordance with the Council’s Policy 
Framework.

Motion 864 - Restoring our rivers
Proposed by Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Seconded by Cllr Bernie Fisher

This Council notes that:
 Gloucestershire is fortunate to have 28 rivers running through our county, 

including the River Severn and River Thames, Britain’s longest and second 
longest rivers.

 However, many of these waterways are flooded with harmful pollutants, 
including raw sewage discharges from water treatment operators Thames 
Water, Severn Trent and Wessex Water.

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

 This pollution is causing extensive damage to the fragile ecosystems around 
our county.

 It can also prove a serous public health concern for those residents living near 
rivers or using them for leisure activities; with pathogens able to cause serious 
illnesses.

 Furthermore, traces of Covid-19 have been found in sewage outputs in global 
hotspots.

This Council recognises that dumping raw sewage into rivers is currently legal in 
extreme circumstances, but also recognises claims that the use of these measures 
has become routine for some operators.

This Council believes that the adverse impacts on the county’s waterways are 
unacceptable and that water treatment operators need to adjust their behaviour and 
invest more in the networks to avoid damaging our county’s public resources.

This Council also believes that the county’s waterways are a resource that every 
resident should be confident in using safely, and that we should strive to have the 
country’s first designated bathing waters in rivers, which could bring great economic 
and social benefits to Gloucestershire.

This Council therefore resolves to 
 Call on the Cabinet to take urgent action with District Councils, the 

Environment Agency, local partners and communities to lead comprehensive 
monitoring of the county’s waterways to determine the extent of the damage 
caused by raw sewage and pollutants.

 Call on the Cabinet to work with local partners, including The Rivers Trust and 
water treatment operators to promote better use of sewage facilities – 
recognising that everyone has a role to play in improving our waterways. 

 Write to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, to ban 
the routine dumping of raw sewage into our rivers, with the ultimate aim of 
restoring our rivers to a state where we can safely swim in them and to protect 
their environment and biodiversity.

Motion 865 – Public Health England
Proposed by Cllr Iain Dobie
Seconded by Cllr Nigel Robbins

This Council recognises the hard work of the County Council’s Public Health officials 
when looking to tackle the first wave of the Covid-19 pandemic in Gloucestershire.
 



    

This Council also notes that the team has had to work within the confines of a 25 per 
cent cut to the whole public health budget in England compared to 2015, which 
commentators have said limited the UK’s ability to respond effectively to Covid-19.
 
This Council further notes, with dismay, that the current Government is seeking to 
dismantle Public Health England at a time when the Office of National Statistics 
estimate that some 2,400 people are still being infected every day.
 
This Council believes that the break-up of PHE at this time is politically motivated to 
shift the blame from this Government to unelected state officials, that it will take time 
and resources away from tackling the pandemic and that it will harm the country’s 
recovery and ability to tackle local outbreaks as we move into the potentially 
dangerous winter months.  This council is also concerned that doing so without any 
plan for preventative functions (such as tackling smoking) could leave these critical 
services rudderless. 
 
This Council also believes that it will be essential, as soon as this pandemic is under 
control, to hold a thorough and transparent investigation into the Government’s 
handling of the pandemic, which may well have implications for the agency 
responsible for pandemic planning – though only when appropriate – and will likely 
acknowledge the need for greater delegation to local public health experts. 
 
This Council resolves to request the Chief Executive and Council Leader to write to 
the Secretary of State for Health to:

 Express this Council’s grave concerns about the dismantling of Public Health 
England in the midst of a pandemic.

 Reiterate the need for a thorough and transparent enquiry into why the UK has 
one of the highest Covid-19 mortality rates in the world.

 Call for the 25 per cent cut in funding since 2015 to be reinstated.

Motion 866 – Rainbow flag crossings
Proposed by Cllr Kate Haigh
Seconded by Cllr Lesley Williams

This Council notes that the public realm can be used by local authorities to promote 
inclusivity and community cohesion and to advance equality of opportunity and foster 
good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do 
not.

Council further notes that long lasting and colourful road crossings can also enhance 
the design of the public realm and provide interesting and safer places to cross the 
road.



    

This Council resolves to call on the Cabinet to create an inclusive rainbow flag 
crossing in Gloucester City centre in time for Pride month 2021 and to enter into 
discussions with other districts about suitable locations for crossings to be located 
over the next 2 years. This will support Pride in Gloucestershire’s bid for Europride 
2026 to be held in the county. 
 

9  MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written member questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the County Council. 

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 2 September 
2020. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of 
Stephen Bace (email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will 
be circulated prior to the meeting.

10  SCRUTINY (Pages 59 - 60)

Cllr Shaun Parsons, Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to 
present a summary report from the July 2020 cycle of scrutiny committees. 

11  CABINET 

a)  CABINET 17 JUNE 2020 (Pages 61 - 68)
To note the Cabinet Decision Statement for the meeting.

The recommendations to Council relating to the Council Strategy and the Second 
Review of the Statement of Community Involvement were approved by Council 
on 24 June 2020.

b)  CABINET 22 JULY 2020 (Pages 69 - 76)
To note the Cabinet Decision Statement for the meeting.

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

c)  INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION STATEMENTS (Pages 77 - 90)
To consider the decision statements for the period 1 February to 31 August 2020.

12  CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2021 (Pages 91 - 92)

To approve the calendar of meetings for 2021.

RECORDING MEETINGS, INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL 
QUERIES – Please note that full Council meetings are webcast and may be 
viewed on the Council’s website (www.gloucestershire.gov.uk). If you wish to 
inspect reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general 
queries about the meeting, please contact:

Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services
 01452 324202, email simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

MINUTES OF COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING
DATE: Wednesday 24 June 2020 TIME:  10.00 am
VENUE: Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting

Present
Membership:

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr Richard Boyles
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Iain Dobie
Cllr Ben Evans
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Andrew Gravells
Cllr Kate Haigh
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Joe Harris

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Patrick Molyneux
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr David Norman MBE
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Loraine Patrick
Cllr John Payne
Cllr Alan Preest

Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Rachel Smith
Cllr Vernon Smith
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Klara Sudbury
Cllr Ray Theodoulou 
(Chairman)
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Eva Ward
Cllr Simon Wheeler
Cllr Kathy Williams
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Apologies: Bill Crowther (Honorary Alderman), Terence Parker, Cllr Keith Rippington 
and Gordon Shurmer (Honorary Alderman)

1. MINUTES 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 February 2020 were confirmed and signed 
as a correct record.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE declared a personal interest as a school governor.

3. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
a) Virtual meeting protocol
Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services, explained the virtual meeting protocol for the 
meeting to members.

b) Victims of Coronavirus in Gloucestershire
The Chairman paid tribute to the 568 residents of Gloucestershire who had sadly lost their 
lives to coronavirus, including Council employee Richard Edwards. The Chairman, on 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

behalf of the Council, passed on his sincere condolences to Richard’s family and all 
bereaved families in the county. A minute’s silence was held in remembrance of all the 
county’s residents who had lost their lives due to the virus. Members would be able to pay 
personal tribute to those who had lost their lives during the motions agenda item. 

c) People of Paju Province in South Korea
The Chairman advised that he had written to the Mayor of Paju Province in South Korea to 
thank its people for the personal protective equipment they sent to the county in honour of 
the soldiers of the Gloucestershire Regiment for their service in the Korean War. This PPE 
had been distributed to care homes in the county that looked after many older people of the 
same generation whose young men fought at the Imjin River.

d) Thank you
The Chairman thanked staff of the Council and partner organisations including the NHS, 
Police, Fire and Rescue, care providers and community organisations for the support and 
care they had provided to the residents of Gloucestershire during the Coronavirus 
outbreak.  Members would be able to personally thank those who had supported residents 
in the county during the outbreak during the motions agenda item.

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
Fifteen questions had been received. A copy of the answers was circulated and is attached 
to the signed copy of the minutes.

Question 2 – Highlighting the need for members of the public and local councillors to have 
access to data on cases of coronavirus and related deaths within Gloucestershire, Molly 
Scott Cato asked whether this information would be made available on the Council website.

Cllr Tim Harman advised that accurate local data would be the focus for the cross-party 
engagement board that was being established, and which would hold its first meeting in 
July. 

Question 7 – Referring to the figures provided in the answers to questions 8 and 9, Dr 
David Willingham asked whether, given the error made by a member of staff and the 
evident lack of parking, it would be better to oppose the planning application.

Cllr Vernon Smith advised that the question would be better addressed to officers at 
Cheltenham Borough Council.

Question 8 – Dr David Willingham asked whether the cabinet member would agree to write 
to the planning authority to ask them to agree to rescind the planning application, given that 
the information provided by the Council to the planning authority differed from the 
information provided in the answers to questions 9 and 10. 

Cllr Vernon Smith agreed to liaise with the officer who provided the information and the 
planning authority regarding this matter. 

Question 14 – Dr David Willingham asked whether the cabinet member would consider 
installing demand-led traffic signals which could be triggered by cyclists.

Cllr Vernon Smith suggested that Dr Willingham have a conversation with him outside of 
the meeting on the issue.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Question 15 – Dr David Willingham asked whether the road surface at Great Western 
Terrance could be treated to prevent drains blocking due to grit and gravel from the road. 

Cllr Vernon Smith agreed to ask the relevant officer to check where Great Western Terrace 
was in the programme for road resurfacing. 

Cllr Nigel Robbins raised a point of order relating to Public Questions. He felt that the 
number of questions, written and supplementary, received from a member of the public 
was an abuse of the system and requested that the process be reviewed. The matter was 
referred to the Constitution Committee.

5. CORPORATE PARENTING 
Cllr Richard Boyles, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, 
presented the report which focused on the work of Voice Gloucestershire 
(Gloucestershire’s Children in Care Council). He encouraged all members to engage with 
the corporate parenting training which was delivered by the council’s Ambassadors for 
Vulnerable Children and Young People. 

In response to a question Cllr Boyles updated members on the progress of Trevone House, 
explaining that the project had slipped due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The construction was 
scheduled to complete in September 2020, with services commencing soon after. Cllr 
Boyles also agreed to contact the local member to share the contract details for the 
management of this facility.

It was stated that the work of the Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and Young People 
was a highlight of the work of Children’s Services. 

A member raised concerns regarding the reduction in the number of foster carers available. 
Cllr Boyles acknowledged that there has been a fall in numbers. This was, in the main, as a 
result of the Covid-19 pandemic; many of our foster carers were older and had had to 
withdrawn from fostering support for health reasons. The Fostering Service was actively 
recruiting, but this was a challenge in the current circumstances.

6. PETITIONS 
No petitions were presented by members.

7. MOTIONS 
Motion 859 – Fast-tracked introduction of ‘School Streets’ schemes
Cllr Iain Dobie proposed and Cllr Nigel Robbins seconded the motion included on the 
agenda.

Cllr Dobie informed the meeting of the challenges outside schools at the beginning and end 
of the school day relating to traffic; he felt sure that each member of council would have 
witnessed this themselves. He outlined the benefits that could be generated by the 
introduction of the school streets scheme in Gloucestershire, including improved safety, 
and air quality and encouraged walking and cycling. He also stated that this scheme would 
benefit the wider community health and wellbeing, and support improved community spirit. 
He acknowledged that the location of the school was key, and that the location of some of 
Gloucestershire’s schools would not be suitable for this scheme but would benefit from 
other traffic calming measures. 

Cllr Dobie felt that there was excessive bureaucracy and delay built into the traffic 
regulation order process (TRO) which created an unhelpful barrier. He indicated that in his 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

view there was also a lack of will to deliver these types of schemes within Shire Hall. 
Passing the motion would remove these barriers. Cllr Dobie stated that the council’s travel 
plan promoted cycling and that the council had declared a climate emergency and had 
identified targets for reducing air pollution. He informed the meeting that this motion 
supported these shared aims and asked that members support the motion as it stands.

Cllr Nigel Robbins, seconder, asked members what legacy they would want to leave for 
their children and grandchildren? He stated that this proposal was an important gift to 
future generations. Vehicle pollution was particularly damaging to young children. Enabling 
children to cycle would support the drive to reduce obesity, with the associated benefits to 
the individual and society – he quoted from the council’s Local Transport Plan (LTP) which 
stated that children preferred to cycle, and that it was anticipated that if changes were not 
made to support more sustainable travel options for children there would be a significant 
increase in the levels of obesity. He reiterated that supporting this motion would be an 
important gift to future generations.

A member informed the meeting that there were clear advantages to this motion, where the 
scheme could be implemented. This proposal also have additional merit to the 20mph as it 
would provide a more effective way of providing a safe environment for children. An 
important aspect was the timing – there were limited opportunities before winter set in. 
They indicated that they were unsure that the Administration was fully supportive of safer 
zones etc, but hoped that council would take note of this motion.

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, informed the meeting that 
the Conservative Cabinet does support children traveling to school safely and in an 
environmentally manner including walking and cycling, but wanted it to be an evidence 
based approach. School Streets were an interesting idea and the Cabinet was happy to 
back a trial scheme. However the evidence from elsewhere was mixed and he would want 
to see how it worked in Gloucestershire before committing to implementing this approach 
across all schools. Because the motion proposes spending outside the budget, and other 
factors that the council could not make decisions on, he proposed that this be discussed at 
the meeting of Cabinet on 22 July 2020, and that Cllr Dobie make his presentation at that 
meeting. Cllr Moor informed the meeting that the Conservative Group had tried to identify a 
way of amending this motion to take their concerns into account, but this had not been 
possible. He therefore moved a motion that this proposal be received by Cabinet in July; 
this should not cause any delay to the work in place currently to run the trial.

Cllr Moor therefore proposed a motion without notice under standing order 11.1.13 to refer 
the motion to Cabinet in July 2020. This motion was seconded by Cllr Mark Hawthorne. Cllr 
Hawthorne informed members that he supported Cllr Moor’s statements; this was a 
complex issue. He reiterated that Cllr Dobie would be able to present his case at Cabinet 
on 22 July 2020.

Cllr Dobie stated that he was unhappy, and not surprised, by the proposed motion without 
notice; he thought that this was yet another delay. He indicated that he would not be 
supporting this motion but would abstain.

On being put to the vote the motion without notice was carried.

RESOLVED that

Under standing order 11.1.13, motions without notice, Motion 859 ‘School Streets’ be 
referred to Cabinet.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Motion 860 - Celebrating Gloucestershire Volunteers
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson proposed and Cllr Lesley Williams seconded the motion included on 
the agenda.

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson stated that he was delighted to present this motion on the superb 
volunteer effort in the county in response to the pandemic. He felt that Covid-19 had had a 
transformative effect on our country, county and world, clearly none more so than on the 
families and friends of those who have died. In Gloucestershire almost 600 people have 
died of Covid-19 during this pandemic. Alongside the loss he stated that he felt the many 
extraordinary acts of kindness locally and nationally would also be remembered. He drew 
attention to the many offers of help and support received by the Gloucestershire 
Community Hub, and the many initiatives/projects that had been set up by volunteers and 
local businesses in response to the pandemic. He felt that as we moved into the recovery 
phase it would be important to take the learning from these experiences forward with us. 
He hoped that all members supported this motion to celebrate and thank our everyday 
heroes and to create a memorial.

Members from across the council agreed with the premise of the motion and took the 
opportunity to highlight initiatives in their own divisions and to thank those involved for their 
work. Members agreed that there was a debt of gratitude to the volunteers in 
Gloucestershire. Members hoped that it would be possible to capture this community spirit 
such that it continued as we moved forward. 

Members also wanted to record their thanks to council officers for their prompt response to 
the pandemic and their ability to adapt to the changes required to deliver the work to 
support people through the pandemic. 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne thanked members for their contributions to the debate and to the work 
of the volunteers in their divisions. He informed the meeting that the response had shown 
that we could work together and we could deliver services differently. He stated that it 
would be important that there was a celebration, and that work was underway for a 
Gloucestershire Day; this would be both an opportunity to remember and to celebrate. 
More details would be available in due course.

Cllr Lesley Williams, seconder, thanked members for highlighting the voluntary work in their 
areas; she felt that the spontaneous eruption of people wanting to help had been 
extraordinary. She welcomed the idea of a Gloucestershire Day. 

On being put to the vote the motion was carried unanimously.

RESOLVED that: - 
This Council notes that:

 Despite the tragic loss of life caused by the Covid-19 pandemic, including over 550 
in Gloucestershire alone to date, this crisis will also be remembered for the 
enormous acts of kindness and generosity exhibited by Gloucestershire’s residents.

 Within hours of setting up Gloucestershire Help Hub, the Council was flooded with 
offers of help from businesses, organisations and residents, totalling over 3,500 to 
date.

 Many communities across Gloucestershire established their own support networks 
to ensure that no member of society went without.

This Council also notes that:

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

 Gloucestershire County Council staff rose to the challenge of the situation, with 
many staff changing roles to support the Council’s response and most of our social 
services colleagues dramatically increasing their hours of work to protect our 
county’s most vulnerable residents.

 Without the work of volunteers from outside the Council, Gloucestershire County 
Council could never have hoped to respond to the thousands of calls for support, 
including delivering food parcels, collecting prescriptions and combatting isolation 
and loneliness.

 As the lead authority in the county, this Council calls for GCC to establish a series 
of events to recognise and celebrate the exceptional efforts of residents and public 
servants, and to establish permanent memorials to acknowledge both the 
volunteers and the tragic loss of so many members of our community.

Motion 861 – Climate change
Cllr Kate Haigh proposed and Cllr Rachel Smith seconded the motion included on the 
agenda.

Cllr Haigh stated that as we rebuild our lives and economy post the pandemic a new world 
would emerge, but that it would be important not to forget that the fight against climate 
change remained important, the biggest long term threat to all our futures. How we all work 
and do business has changed radically, but already the roads are back to being busy. The 
county council was at the forefront of the response to the pandemic and this work must go 
hand in hand with the work to reduce the impact of climate change; this approach must run 
like a thread though all of our actions. The response to Covid-19 has shown that radical 
action can be taken in the face of an imminent threat. Council strategies were developed in 
a pre Covid-19 world so it was only right that they should be revisited. This was a pivotal 
moment, of great risk but also great opportunity to build a resilient and sustainable future. 
This was a cross cutting issue that would affect everything we do and be considered by all 
the council’s scrutiny committees, but should be managed by the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee as its work cut across all areas. It would be important to consult the 
public, hear what they have to say and engage them with the process. 

Cllr Smith, seconder, stated that Covid-19 had demonstrated that health was a huge 
motivator when we want to change and we needed to hold this in mind as we work to 
address the climate crisis. The climate breakdown was already having an impact; there 
were big challenges that we needed to address. A survey in Stroud had shown that 75% of 
people identified climate change as an issue that needed to be addressed. We must not 
miss this opportunity. It would be important to discuss this at the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee as it cut across all areas. 

A member spoke in support of the motion informing the meeting that there had been 
exceptional behavioural changes during lockdown – more people exercising outdoors, 
traffic levels dropping to 30% of normal levels, cycle shops stripped bare. Covid-19 had 
highlighted the fragility of an oil based economy. We would be failing future generations if 
we did not grab this opportunity.

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, informed the meeting that 
the Conservative Group supported the thrust of the motion but felt that this work should be 
managed by the Environment Scrutiny Committee. The Environment Scrutiny Committee 
had been at the fore in the development of the Climate Change Strategy. 

Cllr Moor therefore proposed an amendment to motion 861: -

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

This Council notes that the response to Covid-19 in the County has been exceptional, with 
changes to how we do things delivered at a rapid pace.

This Council believes by using existing technology, we can and must change how we do 
things. As we recover from this health crisis we must also use this new thinking to tackle 
the climate crisis.

This Council pledges to use the new thinking about how we live and work as a basis for 
building communities resilient to climate change. 

This Council asks the Cabinet member for Environment and Planning who is responsible 
for climate change strategy to produce a report to Council after consideration by Corporate 
Overview Environment Scrutiny Committee on what lessons the Council has learnt during 
Covid-19 that the County Council can apply to its policies and practices to meet our climate 
change targets and produce a cleaner, greener post-Covid County.

The report written to include public consultation on their priorities for building back better.
Lessons learned on how to deliver change at a rapid pace

Referring to key strategies including Vision 2050, Industrial Strategy, Strategic Transport 
Plan and Council Plan.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne seconded the motion. He informed members that this amendment 
was a small change to direct the report to the Environment Scrutiny Committee. He stated 
that it would be important to reflect on the opportunities that Covid-19 has brought forward. 
A bid has already been submitted to government for cycling routes between Cheltenham 
and Gloucester, and an approach has been made with regard to broadband rollout. 

The Chairman questioned whether this could be accepted as a friendly amendment. Cllr 
Haigh indicated that it was not. She did not support the change relating to public 
consultation, nor the direction to the Environment Scrutiny Committee. This was a cross 
cutting matter and would be better overseen by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. Cllr Smith informed the meeting she agreed with the points raised by Cllr Haigh 
and could not accept the amendment.

Some members commented that they did not think that it was appropriate to remove the 
reference to public consultation; it was not appropriate to exclude the very people that the 
council had been praising earlier in the meeting. 

Cllr Moor informed the meeting that the point of taking this motion to Environment Scrutiny 
was that it was well versed in the Climate Change Strategy which would enable this work to 
move at pace. The public had already been consulted during the development of the 
Climate Change Strategy; they would be again in due course, but it was important not to 
delay.

Cllr Haigh reiterated her concerns with regard to the amendment.

On being put to the vote the amendment was carried. 

The amended motion therefore became the substantive motion. On being put to the vote 
the motion was carried

RESOLVED  that 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

This Council notes that the response to Covid-19 in the County has been exceptional, with 
changes to how we do things delivered at a rapid pace.

This Council believes by using existing technology, we can and must change how we do 
things. As we recover from this health crisis we must also use this new thinking to tackle 
the climate crisis.

This Council pledges to use the new thinking about how we live and work as a basis for 
building communities resilient to climate change. 

This Council asks the Cabinet member for Environment and Planning who is responsible 
for climate change strategy to produce a report to Environment Scrutiny Committee on 
what lessons the Council has learnt during Covid-19 that the County Council can apply to 
its policies and practices to meet our climate change targets and produce a cleaner, 
greener post-Covid County.

Referring to key strategies including Vision 2050, Industrial Strategy, Strategic Transport 
Plan and Council Plan.

Motion 863 - Establishment of a local contact tracing system to stop Covid-19
Cllr Rachel Smith proposed and Cllr Eva Ward seconded the motion included on the 
agenda.

Cllr Smith stated that the Covid-19 pandemic had presented this country with its biggest 
crisis since World War 2. It has recorded one of the largest death rates, and the 
government was not protecting the population. Contact tracing was the best method to 
protect people and keep them safe. SAGE (Scientific Advisory Group for Emergencies) has 
slated the government’s approach to track and trace and has explained what was required. 
The government was not sharing crucial testing data. Cllr Smith felt that the Public Health 
Team at the council had the skills to establish a local track and trace system; this could 
coordinate with the already established help hub. She discussed how Ceredigion, Wales, 
had used local data with success. She informed members that political leadership and 
moral courage were needed such that lives would be saved.

Cllr Ward, seconder, looked forward to the publication of the Local Outbreak Management 
Plan on 30 June 2020. She did not think that the current initiatives went far enough. People 
were frightened to leave their homes due to a lack of data, and felt that a local system 
informed by local knowledge was the better approach. 

Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member Public Health and Communities, informed members that 
the government’s track and trace system had been launched on 1 May 2020; 87000 people 
were self isolating after being traced. A local system would not work, not least because 
people moved across boundaries. It was not the job of the council’s Public Heath team to 
take on this role; and it was important not to take resources away from other important 
areas, eg. mental health. Track and trace was resource intensive and it was therefore 
better to use the national team. Cllr Harman thought it unhelpful to compare Ceredigion 
with Gloucestershire giving the significant differences in their population density. He 
indicated that Cllr Smith was welcome to join the Covid-19 Member Engagement Board.

Members paid tribute to the council’s Public Health Team. Some members expressed their 
frustration at the lack of data coming through from government and agreed that there 
needed to be a local system for local people. It was commented that if we should not 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

compare to Ceredigion then perhaps a comparison with Germany, where management of 
track and trace has been devolved to local authorities, would be more appropriate. There 
was agreement that this country could learn from the approaches taken by our European 
neighbours. 

Other members argued that this was a complex issue and that there was a lot of ignorance 
about what was actually happening. Covid-19 did not respect local boundaries, and that it 
was right that there was a national system. The council did not have the necessary 
resources to run a local system. The geographical location of Gloucestershire meant that 
the situation here was different to the rest of the South West. 

Cllr Smith stated that she was disappointed that some members could not see the value of 
a local system, and was concerned that there seemed to some complacency. She 
acknowledged that people moved across boundaries, but that those who did not were the 
most vulnerable and needed a level of confidence that was not currently there.

On being put to the vote the motion was lost.

Motion 862 - Promoting cycleways
Cllr Lesley Williams proposed and Cllr Steve Robinson seconded the motion included on 
the agenda.

Cllr Williams stated that this was a good opportunity to encourage people to cycle but that 
we needed to provide the information to enable people to do so. Working with Parish 
Councils would be a positive way forward. It would be important to ensure that we provided 
clear communication channels.

The Chairman indicated that an amendment to the motion had been received and Cllr 
Williams indicated that this was a friendly amendment. The substantive motion was 
therefore that: -

This Council is taking advantage of extra funding provided by the Government as a result 
of Covid 19 to promote alternative modes of travel and to make busy areas physically safer 
for people to walk and cycle.

This Council recognises that cycling, in the county, has increased by 190% during the last 
few months.

This Council recognises that the County already has a large number of cycle routes.

This Council recognises that in order to encourage more people, not just enthusiasts, to 
carry on cycling they need to feel safe and to know where there are dedicated routes that 
might allow them to travel to work by bicycle. 

This Council recognises that the typical distance that a person will cycle to work is about 
5km.

In order to support cycling, and to encourage more cycling this Council calls on the cabinet 
member to provide resources to positively promote cycling by communicating routes, both 
functional and recreational, through extensive publicity.

And that this Council considers measures that could be put in place for the safe storage of 
bicycles in various locations covered lock-ups not just racks.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

Members agreed that this was a positive way forward, but commented that the council 
needed to take action quickly. It would also be important to ensure that that cycle tracks 
already in place remained fit for purpose and if they were in a poor state of repair that faults 
were addressed. It was not sufficient to just split a footpath into two parts - this would not 
meet social distancing requirements. Some members felt that opportunities to make 
changes during the lockdown had been missed. The need for people to feel assured that 
their cycles would be safe and there when they returned was emphasised. 

Cllr Williams thanked members for their support and agreed that safe storage was an 
important factor. 

On being put to the vote the motion was carried unanimously.

RESOLVED that 

This Council is taking advantage of extra funding provided by the Government as a result 
of Covid 19 to promote alternative modes of travel and to make busy areas physically safer 
for people to walk and cycle.

This Council recognises that cycling, in the county, has increased by 190% during the last 
few months.

This Council recognises that the County already has a large number of cycle routes.

This Council recognises that in order to encourage more people, not just enthusiasts, to 
carry on cycling they need to feel safe and to know where there are dedicated routes that 
might allow them to travel to work by bicycle. 

This Council recognises that the typical distance that a person will cycle to work is about 
5km.

In order to support cycling, and to encourage more cycling this Council calls on the cabinet 
member to provide resources to positively promote cycling by communicating routes, both 
functional and recreational, through extensive publicity.

And that this Council considers measures that could be put in place for the safe storage of 
bicycles in various locations covered lock-ups not just racks.

8. MEMBER QUESTIONS 
Eight member questions had been received. The following supplementary questions were 
asked:

Question 1 – Cllr Rachel Smith reiterated her question as to how much carbon dioxide the 
incinerator at Javelin Park was producing, stating that this was not being measured in a 
consistent way.

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that this had been measured and included in the environmental 
statement. He also advised that the Council was looking to increase recycling, and that this 
would be incentivised as part of the reprocurement of the HRC contract in July.

Question 2 – Cllr Rachel Smith asked whether some of the remaining £1million drainage 
budget could be used to address drainage issues around Claypits Lane and Thrupp. 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that he would be happy to discuss the issue with Cllr Smith 
outside of the meeting.

Question 5 – Cllr Rachel Smith asked whether the Council would commit to using 
technology to increase public participation with Council meetings moving forward.

Cllr Lyndon Stowe replied that this could be an area for the Public Participation Scrutiny 
Task Group to consider when it reconvenes in the autumn. 

Question 7 – Cllr Lesley Williams thanked staff working in schools across the County who 
had continued to work during the coronavirus outbreak to ensure schools remained open 
for children of key workers and vulnerable children, and asked what plans were in place for 
these children who would still need looking after during the school summer holidays.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux replied that as schools would not be required to open during the 
summer holidays, alternative options such as holiday clubs would be available, and that the 
Council would look to consider how else it could support key workers with childcare during 
this time.

8.1 Scrutiny 
Cllr Shaun Parsons, Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, provided an 
update on scrutiny. He advised that virtual scrutiny question and answer sessions for each 
scrutiny committee had taken place throughout June and that formal scrutiny committee 
meetings would recommence virtually in July, highlighting the hard work of Democratic 
Services and ICT in setting up and testing the technology to enable members to participate 
in these meetings remotely. 

In response to a question from a member as to why the formal scrutiny function of the 
Council had been paused for so long, Cllr Parsons explained that the response to the 
coronavirus crisis by officers had to be prioritised, pragmatically the systems to enable 
scrutiny to take place remotely had to be set up, and that the Council would be one of the 
first larger local authorities to reconvene full scrutiny sessions.

9. CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE REPORT 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Chair of the Constitution Committee, presented the report from the 
meeting held on 9 March 2020 and subsequent changes required to the Council’s 
Constitution since that meeting.

One member sought clarification on the procedure for motions without notice. In response it 
was confirmed that under the Procedural Standing Order for motions without notice, the 
seconder did not have the right to speak in support of the motion.  
RESOLVED to agree the recommendations from the Constitution Committee as 
included in the report:

a) -  To increase the Basic Allowance from £10,300 to £10,500 (2%)
- To increase the Special Responsibility Allowance for Committee Chairs and 

Group Leaders from £6,120 to £6,360 (4%).
- To increase all other Special Responsibility Allowances by 2% in line with 

the recommendation for the Basic Allowance.
- To note the revised Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2020-21 at Appendix 

B to the report (please refer to Annex 1).

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

- To indicate support for the Special Responsibility Allowance for the Chair of 
the Police and Crime Panel to be set at the same level as a Scrutiny Chair 
at Gloucestershire County Council and authorise the Chief Executive to 
write to the six District Councils to request their support for this approach.

b) that the changes to the terms of reference of the Pension Board be approved as 
indicated in Annex 2.

c) the scheme of delegation be changed to authorise the Executive Director of 
Economy, Environment and Infrastructure as set out in the Annex 3.

d) that the change, as detailed in the report, be made to Procedural Standing 
Order 11.2.2 in Part 4 of the Constitution.

e) to ratify the changes to the Constitution made by the Monitoring Officer under 
delegated powers (MO2 in Section 5 of Part 3 of the Constitution). Please refer 
to Annex 5.

10. APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Chair of the Appointments Committee, presented the 
recommendation from the Appointments Committee held on 6 March 2020 relating to the 
Pay Policy Statement. It was noted that as a result of the cancellation of the meeting of full 
Council on 25 March 2020, the Chief Executive had approved the Pay Policy Statement to 
allow it to be published.  This decision was taken following consultation with the Chair and 
Leader of Council under delegated powers to officers.

11. CABINET 
Please see minute 12.

12. CABINET 17 JUNE 2020 
i) Council Strategy: Looking to the Future 2019-2022

RESOLVED to ratify the following changes to the Council Strategy: Looking to the Future 
2019-2022:

- To add the following to the Challenges & Opportunities chapter on page 5 
relating to Climate Change:

‘Along with councils up and down the country, Gloucestershire County Council has 
declared a climate change emergency.  This recognises the irreversible impact that 
humans have already had on climate change and the need for bold and timely action to be 
taken.  The County Council has a leadership role, along with other public sector bodies, to 
reduce carbon emissions across the whole county.’

- To add the following to ‘Our Priorities for Gloucestershire’ on page 7: 
‘Reduce Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions by 80% by 2030, and secure a 
carbon neutral county by 2050.’

- To add the following to the ‘Transport, Economy and Infrastructure’ section 
on pages 16-17: ‘We will reduce Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions by 
80% by 2030, and secure a carbon neutral county by 2050. We will do this 
by working with our partners through Leadership Gloucestershire to:

 Implement the Gloucestershire Climate Change strategy
 Strengthen the Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy
 Grow our low carbon economy
 Help our residents, businesses and partners to radically reduce carbon.’

ii) Second review of the Statement of Community Involvement for 
Gloucestershire

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, summarised the function 
of the Statement of Community Involvement for Gloucestershire, and set out the process 
that was undertaken for its review.

One member queried how the public would access information following the removal of 
hard copies from libraries. Cllr Moor explained that the removal of hard copies was part of 
trying to balance the carbon change strategy, and that the public could access information 
through other means, such as social media. 

On being put to a recorded vote it was

RESOLVED 
To adopt the Second Review Statement of Community Involvement for Gloucestershire in 
accordance with Section 23 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).

The voting was as follows:

For (40): Cllrs Carole Allaway Martin, Phil Awford, Rob Bird, Richard Boyles, David Brown, 
Dr John Cordwell, Kevin Cromwell, Stephen Davies, Iain Dobie, Andrew Gravells, Tim 
Harman, Joe Harris, Mark Hawthorne, Colin Hay, Jeremy Hilton, Stephen Hirst, Paul 
Hodgkinson, Andrew Miller, Patrick Molyneux, Nigel Moor, Graham Morgan, Dave Norman, 
Shaun Parsons, Sajid Patel, Loraine Patrick, John Payne, Alan Preest, Brian Robinson, 
Steve Robinson, Rachel Smith, Vernon Smith, Lynden Stowe, Ray Theodoulou, Brian 
Tipper, Robert Vines, Eva Ward, Kathy Williams, Lesley Williams, Suzanne Williams and 
Will Windsor Clive

Against (0)

Abstentions (0)

12.1 Cabinet 11 March 2020 
RESOLVED to note the Cabinet Decision Statement for the meeting held on 11 
March 2020.
12.2 Individual Cabinet Member Decision Statements 

One member, referring to the Gloucester to Cheltenham Cycle Improvements Scheme, 
sought assurance that the improvements would undergo detailed planning. In response, 
Cllr Moor explained that the Council wanted to take advantage of the funding from 
Government and that they needed to be careful with how they approached the scheme. 

RESOLVED 
To note that the Cabinet Member Decision Statements for the period 1 February to 9 June 
2020.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 14:30

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

Page 14



Corporate Parenting Group Annual Report 2019/2020

Introduction
Gloucestershire’s Corporate Parenting Group (CPG) brings together a number of 
elected members, senior agency representatives and practitioners to ensure children 
in our care are supported to have high aspirations and achieve their full potential.  All 
Members have a corporate responsibility for Children in Care which the CPG enacts 
on their behalf. The group has a key role in ensuring that the Local Authority and its 
partners are discharging their responsibilities towards Children in Care and young 
people leaving our care. 

Annual Report
The Annual Report 2019/2020 provides an overview of the work undertaken by the 
group during the year 1st April 2019 – 31st March 2020.  This is the second report 
that the Corporate Parenting Group has brought forward, and forms part of the wider 
improvement activity underway in Gloucestershire, by ensuring that Full Council has 
an appreciation of its work. It has been presented to The Corporate Parenting Group 
in July this year, as was anticipated when last years Annual Report was presented to 
Full Council and will be presented at the same time each year going forward. 

The Corporate Parenting Group asks that the Council note the Corporate Parenting 
Group Annual Report 2019/2020.

Cllr Richard Boyles
Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member – Children’s Safeguarding & Early Years

26 August  2020

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Foreword 

Corporate Parenting Group 
Annual Report 

2019/2020

Page 17



2

As Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years it is my pleasure to 

introduce the second Annual Report of Gloucestershire’s Corporate Parenting Group 

(2019/20) since I became chair.

During the last year the Corporate Parenting Group have continued to have oversight of The 

Improvement Plan which is driving required changes to ensure all children are safe and lead 

happy and fulfilling lives.  Integral to their role as Corporate Parents, they continue to 

receive management information and reports with a specific focus on children in care and 

care leavers. It has been another busy year and as always, given the comprehensive amount 

of improvement work underway, it has been a challenge to prioritise what is presented to 

The Corporate Parenting Group

As always, the work of our Participation Team, specifically the ambassadors, the Children in 

Care Council and the feedback we receive from our children and young people through 

various means, play an integral part in Gloucestershire’s improvement journey. They help us 

to keep focussed at ground level and influence development of services in the right way. As 

was the case in last years annual report, this annual report for 2019/20 continues to have a 

specific focus on their work throughout the year and includes actions that will take us 

through to the next stage of our improvement journey. Ambassadors are core members of 

The Corporate Parenting Group and we encourage and actively support their attendance 

and involvement, specifically the new ones who have joined within the last year. Whilst it is 

not always possible for the same ambassadors to attend every meeting of the group, they 

are committed to being an integral part and always attend with the support of The 

Participation Team. Again, I would like to express my sincere thanks to them for their help 

and commitment to the work of The Corporate Parenting Group and to our improvement 

journey as a whole. They are an inspiration to us.

This Annual Report provides a summary of the business of The Corporate Parenting Group 

throughout 2019/20 and includes an overview of the themes presented, extracts from the 

reports and accompanying actions which form an over-arching action plan which has been 

updated to reflect the progress made over the course of the last year. We know we still 

have a lot to do to improve the outcomes of our children and young people in care, but with 

the support of the group and as committed Corporate Parents, we are passionate about 

taking this journey forward.

Page 18



3

Councillor Richard Boyles, Chair of the Corporate Parenting Group
Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years

The Corporate Parenting Group

Page 19



4

Aims and Principles: The responsibility of being a Corporate Parent is the shared 

responsibility of the Council as a whole. The aim of the Corporate Parenting Group is to 

ensure that the Council fulfils its responsibilities in terms of improving outcomes for children 

in care1 and care leavers.

The term ‘Corporate Parenting’ is used to describe the responsibility of the local authority in 

fulfilling its role of caring for children in care and young people leaving care. The role of 

Corporate Parent is a legal responsibility given to local authorities under the Children Act 

1989 and Children Act 2004. 

Role:  The role of the Corporate Parenting Group in Gloucestershire is to ensure children in 

care are supported to have high aspirations, achieve their potential and have good 

outcomes.  Integral to this is the responsibility of members to advocate for children in care 

and assist in developing and delivering services, irrespective of the agency they represent. 

To do this, the Corporate Parenting Group will identify key areas to focus upon for 

improving outcomes for children in care and care leavers. Priorities will include improving 

engagement with children in care, promoting the importance of health and wellbeing, 

improving educational attainment, and identifying greater opportunities from which to 

support care leavers into work and independent living.

Accountability: The Lead Member and Director of Children’s Services jointly share the 

responsibility for improving outcomes for children as caring and effective corporate parents. 

The primary mechanism for exercising this duty2 is through The Corporate Parenting Group, 

which in turn is accountable to Full 

Council. As a standing item, the group 

submits an annual report to the Full 

Council and provides a Briefing Report to 

each Full Council Meeting. Wherever 

possible this report is a precis of a themed 

report presented at the last Corporate 

Parenting Group Meeting. 

1 The term Children in Care is used in Gloucestershire County Council in response to a request from our children and young 
people to do so. It replaces the legislative term ‘Looked After Child’.
2 Statutory Guidance on the Roles & Responsibilities of The Director of Children’s Services and The Lead Member for 
Children’s Services (DfE 2013)

Page 20



5

Membership: The Corporate Parenting Group comprises 7 elected Members of the Council, 

including the Chair, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years (and 

Deputy Leader Gloucestershire County Council).

Other advisors in attendance are as follows:

 Director of Children’s Services

 Director for Children’s Safeguarding and Care

 Strategic Lead, Children in Care

 Participation Manager

 Ambassador Representatives

 Head Teacher of The Virtual School

 Designated Nurse for Children in Care

 Head of Service, 11-25 Permanency Service

 Foster Carer

 Chief Executive, District Council

 Executive Head Teachers (x 2 schools – Alternative Provision and Primary Schools)

 Designated Teacher (Academy)

Membership of the group is reviewed annually and this will form part of the agenda at the 

July (2020) meeting of The Corporate Parenting Group. Currently new representatives from 

education are being sought to replace those who are no longer able to attend. 

Meetings: The Corporate Parenting Group meets 4 times a year, in June/July, September, 

December and the following March. In addition there are two joint events per year hosted 

by the Children in Care Council and at least one event involving County Councillors, fulfilling 

commitments set out within The Corporate Parenting Pledge.

Appendix 1 details the Terms of Reference and agreed responsibilities of The Corporate 

Parenting Group. These will be reviewed in the forthcoming year. 

Context

Page 21



6

The data set out below outlines the key demographics regarding Gloucestershire’s children 

in care population and highlights the position at the end of March 2020. 

The number of children in care at the end of March 2020 was 740 compared to 718 at the 

end of March 2019, an increase of 3%. This remains higher than our peer group (57.8 

compared to 52.7 rate per 10,000 0-17 population) but below national rates. See Table 1 

below which shows the numbers of children in care across the whole year, 2019/20.

Table 1

The increase in the care population continues to pose challenges in terms of improving 

outcomes for children in care, most importantly, in ensuring children experience stability of 

placement and are supported to achieve timely permanence. 

The proportion of children experiencing instability has been increasing over the last 12 

months and is high, both in terms of the current period of care and all periods of care. Short 

term instability in the current period of care is slightly higher than previously reported and 

short term stability across all periods of care is the slightly lower or around the same. 19% of 

children in care experienced 3 or more placement changes within 12 months during their 

current period of care (138 children). 20% have had 3 or more placement moves within 12 

months across all periods of care (148 children) which is higher than our peer group 

(9.8%).See Table 2 below which shows stability performance for the year.

Page 22



7

Table 2

Both short and long term placement stability remain areas for focussed improvement 

activity. We know from our analysis that a considerable amount of instability occurs in the 

early stages of a child entering care and evidence demonstrates a significant proportion of 

children bounce from one emergency placement to the next. This is a practice priority and is 

being addressed in a number of ways to strengthen arrangements, protocols and practice 

for when children become looked after, including the practice currently of seeking same-day 

placements which affects too many children. 

An integral part of The Sufficiency Strategy is to ensure the volume and quality of 

accommodation enables us to match children with carers in order to achieve the right 

placement first time. In addition, a target of 80% (by March 2022) of children living with 

foster carers, who are placed with in-house foster carers versus Independent fostering 

placements has been set. At the end of March 2020, 69% (a reduction of 2% from this time 

last year) were living with in-house foster carers, so there is still some considerable way to 

go to achieve this target and it remains a priority action going forward.  To have achieved 

this ratio at the end of March 2020 would have required an additional 65 children being 

cared for by Gloucestershire’s own carers and this contextualises the scale of the task. 

However, it is imperative to set incremental targets in order to achieve this by March 2022 

because the benefits for children of being supported through local, in-house resources are 

profound. In addition, achieving the target will have a significant positive impact on the 

department’s budget position.  

While the volume of children in care has continued to increase year on year, we are 

accommodating more children within Gloucestershire than in previous years and the 

Page 23



8

number of children placed out of county remains similar to 2018/19. Despite the growth in 

our care population, we are not an outlier compared to other local authorities and the 

proximity of our children enables us to facilitate contact between them and their families, a 

factor which is so important to them. In addition, it enables us to utilise our own resources 

and support our children in a timely and effective manner. See Table 3 below.

Table 3

The revised entry to care pathway and accompanying decision making process was 

introduced within 2018/19 and has been firmly embedded over the course of 2019/20 with 

head of service oversight at the point the decision needs to be made to remove a child from 

their immediate family. This will enable service users to see clearly the rationale for their 

removal from their immediate family, should they wish to access their records. However, 

compliance with some statutory entry to care processes, including timely and robust 

recording need improving and this is currently a target for intervention. An Entry to Care 

Checklist has been developed and has been launched within Liquid Logic. This will now 

enable us to run Web Reports and assess compliance.

The benefits of keeping children local is particularly demonstrated in relation to health 

provision because Gloucestershire has commissioned specialist services to assess and meet 

needs upon entry to care and on an ongoing basis. Whilst there are improvements to be 

made regarding the timeliness of initial and review health assessments, the emerging 

picture is one which clearly demonstrates the positive impact that investment in both time 

and money has had.

Page 24



9

As good corporate parents we must strive to ensure our children in care have the best 

educational opportunities available. The attainment data highlighted later in the report at 

pages 23 and 24 demonstrates we still have some way to go to achieve the standards and 

outcomes we would aspire to for our own children. The Corporate Parenting Group’s role is 

integral to providing the challenge that a ‘pushy parent’ would present in the event that 

their child was not being supported to achieve their full potential. However, the ongoing 

oversight and scrutiny required to improve attainment and narrow the gap between our 

children and their peers requires mechanisms to be put in place over and above the capacity 

of The Corporate Parenting Group. Establishing a Governing Body to mirror statutory 

processes within school settings is therefore a fundamental activity which needs to be 

urgently taken forward and it is therefore a key action highlighted later in this report.

Following agreed investment into service at the end of March 2019, use of Family Group 

Conferences (FGCs) increased. Additional staff were recruited over the summer and new, 

extended criteria was implemented in September 2019 and from that point until the end of 

March 2020 562 children had been referred for an FGC. See Table 4 below.

Table 4

Rather than a targeted approach within certain geographical localities, referrals for FGCs 

should now be made at key points within the integrated pathway, beginning at the early 

help stage, in order to avoid family breakdown and indeed, put families and friends firmly in 

Page 25



10

control of their own destinies, wherever possible. This also includes incorporating 

contingencies into planning processes, which in some cases, may be to approve family and 

friends as potential foster carers should the need arise in the future. Further development 

work is required to embed this concept into Gloucestershire’s day-to-day practice and avoid 

the need to place children in an unplanned way with family and friends. 

Table 5 below shows the breakdown of referrals in relation to need. The highest proportions 

of reason for referral were due to preventing escalation of need to level 4 (29%) or risk of 

family breakdown/edge of care (24%).  However, when comparing data by quarter, it’s clear 

there has been a decline in the number of children and young people referred for 

reunification or edge of care so this requires further exploration and understanding as to 

why.

Reason for FGC  Q3 Q4

Prevent escalation of need to 
level 4 (social care intervention) 29 112

Risk of family breakdown/edge of 
care 61 12

CP concerns and legal 
proceedings considered 71 31

Pre-Proceedings 6 27

Plan for reunification 25 5

Domestic Abuse 4 40

Other 2 1

Not recorded 10 3

Table 5

Lockdown, due to COVID-19, has unfortunately impacted on the work being undertaken due 

to the adjustments the team have had to make to their delivery model given the inability to 

hold family meetings. Planning is underway to determine how we may further progress 

actions highlighted by The Steering Group and ensure momentum is not lost. 

Page 26



11

Looking forward

As part of our programme of improvement activity, the following actions are underway:

 Embedding a culture whereby FGCs are routinely considered and actively pursued at 

the point of early intervention and prevention and thereafter at:

 The child protection planning stage;

 Edge of care, and 

 Reunification.

 Implementing the Entry to Care Checklist to improve compliance with statutory 

processes at entry to care.

Work Programme 2019/20

It has been another busy year for Children’s Services in taking forward our Accelerated 

Improvement Plan, Building the Best, and the focus on children in care and care leavers is 

encompassed within this journey. There remains much to do to improve outcomes for our 

most vulnerable children and young people and the work of the Corporate Parenting Group 

is integral in maintaining clear oversight and a focus on areas which require improvement, in 

addition to celebrating successes. 

Throughout the last year the Corporate Parenting Group received the following Annual 

Reports, all of which incorporated performance activity, highlighted issues for scrutiny and 

focussed on development activity to take forward. All reports refer to activity within the 

2018/19 financial year:

 Fostering 

 Adoption 

 Statutory Reviewing Service

 Health of Children in Care

 Children & Young People Missing from 

Care

 The Annual Report of the Corporate 

Parenting Group  

Page 27



12

 The Virtual Head Teacher’s Report

The VOICE3 Annual report was presented in March 2020 and summarised the work of the 

Children in Care Council for the year up to mid-March 2020.

In addition to reviewing the above reports a comprehensive range of presentations and 

updates were received and considered by The Corporate Parenting Group. These were as 

follows:

 An update regarding Trevone House Developments;

 A presentation covering key educational outcome data (which accompanied The 

Virtual Head Teacher’s Annual Report);

 An update regarding The Care Leaver’s Strategy and Local Offer (regular updates), 

including highlights from a Care Leaver’s Partner Conference;

 A summary presentation of the ‘Deep Dive’ audit into the journey of 20 children in 

care  which was referenced in last years Annual Report;

 A presentation regarding use of unregistered/illegal placements, and

 Ongoing focus upon The Corporate Parenting Pledge (see Appendix 2), including 

implementation of one-page profiles for all County Councillors.

Throughout the year VOICE Gloucestershire hosted two events whereby they met with 

Corporate Parents to highlight the work they had undertaken, to focus on the things that 

are important to them and affect them and to drive forward tangible commitments 

(included within the Voice Work Plan and detailed on page 15) from Corporate Parents in 

order to address issues they had raised and felt needed addressing. 

A Corporate Parenting event was hosted by Ambassadors in October 2019, supported by the 

Participation Manager and Strategic Lead for Children in Care. Attendance was good and 

predominantly comprised County Councillors, all of whom took an active part in the event, 

which included a quiz, designed to enhance the knowledge of those attendees with respect 

to children in care and the most up-to-date statistics. Planning for an event in 2020/21 is 

underway and is likely to be scheduled around the same time this year.

3 Gloucestershire’s Children in Care Council

Page 28



13

Corporate Parenting Briefings continue to be presented by Councillor Richard Boyles to all 

Full Council Meetings throughout the year, summarising key themes presented at Corporate 

Parenting Group meetings and fulfilling Corporate Parenting Group’s obligations. 

This summary report for the year 2019/20 also includes an updated action plan which 

addresses progress against actions highlighted within last years report and identifies the 

work plan going forward. 

Summary of Themes from Annual Reports

VOICE Gloucestershire

The work of the Participation Team continues to be a real strength in Gloucestershire in how 

it influences strategic planning and service improvements so again, it was extremely 

empowering to receive the Annual VOICE Gloucestershire Report at the Corporate Parenting 

Group in March this year. Extracts from the report and a summary of the work carried out is 

summarised below:

A note from Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children & Young People 

‘Our Ambassador Team has participated in a wide range of events and meetings that 

support the work of Voice Gloucestershire. Our amazing team is made up from people who 

have been part of the care system, birth children of the families that foster and also people 

who have been supported by Children’s Services in some way. Having the Ambassador Team 

in my opinion is a perfect way of hearing first hand from the people who experience care on 

a day to day basis and we are always up for a healthy challenge! The most important thing 

we do is give feedback in a way where we talk about the things that could be improved 

followed by how important workers are and remind them of the passion they have for 

helping others. 

I have been involved in quite a few projects over the past year, with many of them making a 

change and meeting the most inspiring people. One of these projects I have been involved 

with is the 11-15’s group where we put on activities and give them a space where they can 

share their views in a place where they feel comfortable. We then take these views to the 

corporate parents which we recently did in the form of a rap song with a music video and for 

Page 29



14

me personally, seeing these children write a song about their experiences was very inspiring 

and brave of them and it went really well! I have also been involved in language that cares 

which is a project where we look into the words that we use in social services and look how 

certain words can be changed to be more child friendly. 

 I am extremely proud to be part of the Ambassador Team! The whole team works really 

hard to give a voice to children and young people across the country and it has also made us 

grow as individuals too. We are always up for making a positive change so get in contact! In 

this report, you will see the voices and the opinions we have captured from children and 

young people in care and what has been changed or are in the process of changing! 

Thank you very much for taking the time to read up about our eventful year! Any questions, 

then contact us for further info  .’

Henry on behalf of the Ambassador Team

‘……This work is championed and driven by Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and Young 

People.  They help us to keep child and young people focused; they challenge us and often 

identify areas of our work that can be neglected. They are creative, social media savvy and 

help us communicate effectively with children and young people. The Participation Team 

would like to extend our special thanks to the young people who act as our Ambassadors; 

they bravely share their lived experience of care and enable others to give their views to 

improve services in Gloucestershire. 

We would also like to thank corporate parents who have continually championed the voice 

of children in care and care leavers by listening without prejudice and taking their views 

forward into all areas of their work.’

Over the last year The Participation Team has been busy focussing on priority areas, some 

examples of which are highlighted below. They have:

 Launched the 11-15’s Adventure Activities Group, which has proved really successful;

 Extended the scheme whereby young people mentor directors and senior managers. 

This scheme has grown from 2 to 6 directors who are now benefitting from meeting 

with an Ambassador on a regular basis;

Page 30



15

 Launched the Language that Cares campaign in November. Ambassadors have 

hosted 3 workshops with 50-60 professionals from partner organisations as well as 

workers from all levels of children’s social care who will champion the guide and 

materials when they are developed. They are creating film clips, posters and leaflets 

to promote the campaign;

 Continued to shape the development of Trevone House to ensure that the needs of 

children and young people are at the very heart of the project. 

 Actively contributed to the ‘Access to Records’ development work and are working 

on the development of a leaflet for children and young people in care to ensure they 

know their rights;

 Co-hosted the Care Leaver’s Partnership Event in February, shaping the agenda, 

sharing their experiences and providing challenging where required.

The challenges taken forward by The Participation Team are as follows:

 To build on the success of the new 11-15’s Forum and increase the number of 7-11 

Activity Based Forums held during the year to ensure Voice Gloucestershire is more 

diverse and representative; 

 To encourage wider engagement from children and young people who do not wish 

to attend a forum or group. This could include creative solutions like polls, surveys 

and blogs;

 To enable County Councillors to fulfil their commitments outlined in the Corporate 

Parenting Pledge e.g. to attend corporate parenting training delivered by 

Ambassadors and wider attendance at Foster Carers celebration events and support 

groups. 

Looking Forward 

Examples of commitments from The Corporate Parenting Group to strengthen Voice 

Gloucestershire 2020/21 include:

 Attending meetings and events organised by Voice Gloucestershire and 

Ambassadors and encourage colleagues to do the same;

Page 31



16

 Working on the Care Leavers Local Offer and encourage those who attended the 

Care Leavers Partnership Conference to deliver on their promises;

 Encouraging children in care and care leavers’ voices to be heard louder in 

Children & Family Overview Scrutiny Committee;

 Supporting the Access to Records project and ensuring that ALL children and 

young people who apply to see their records go through a smooth and child 

centred process;

 Completing a one-page profile and to encourage all Elected Members to do the 

same.

The challenge for Gloucestershire County Council is to keep up the positive work, aspire to 

constantly improve in how we engage with our children and young people as Corporate 

Parents and continue making a difference for them as if they were our own.

 

The Reviewing Service

The Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Service for 

2018/19 was considered by The Corporate Parenting Group in June 

2019 and provided contextual information, emerging trends and 

themes. During Ofsted Monitoring Visits in the year feedback 

highlighted there was evidence of improvement in practice across 

Children’s Services but that the improvement was at too slow a 

pace. Whilst the Reviewing Service did not come under direct scrutiny during these visits the 

report acknowledged the need to accelerate and drive change. In response developments 

were aimed at improving the oversight and challenge function of the service. 

Service Developments 

Changes to the management arrangements for the IROs from February 2019 have offered a 

stable and coherent leadership arrangement for the team.  A new Head of Quality and a 

new Service Manager were appointed to permanent posts. 

The revised Dispute Resolution Process (DRP) demonstrated good early outcomes but it has 

been acknowledged that the level of disputes are not yet proportionate with the level case 

Page 32



17

work judged to be ‘inadequate’ or ‘requires improvement’. As a result, this is highlighted as 

an area for improvement and consequently, the DRP process is now linked to a tracking 

system following any audits, in respect of children in care, which have been identified as the 

service being inadequate. There is an expectation that the IROs are highlighting required 

improvements and instigating the DRP if these are not progressed in a timely way.

Looking Forward

The following are key areas of focus for IRO activity:

 To improve the ‘IRO footprint’ on children’s files, through developments within 

Liquid Logic, which will highlight the themes under scrutiny and support more 

precise reporting;

 To focus on quality in addition to compliance, specifically regarding planning and 

permanence;

 To improve the feedback loop to children and young people to ensure they see and 

reap from the benefits of having an IRO;

 Linking IROs with specific localities to foster improving relationships.

Fostering 

The Annual Fostering Report (2018/19) was considered by the Corporate Parenting Group at 

their meeting in June 2019. It highlighted the following: 

 As at 31 March 2019, of all children in care living with foster carers, 71% were living 

with Gloucestershire foster carers (an increase of 3% from this time last year);

 The number of foster carers no longer available  increased, predominantly due to 

resignations relating to personal reasons (accounting for 42% of households no 

longer fostering);

 The conversion rate, from enquiry to 

approval, increased from 6% to 9% which 

is higher than the regional average;

 There was a net increase of 28 fostering 

households during the year; 

Page 33

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=XqBCID5U&id=91FDE97B6977C33A574AB39AC0351F1E99B73D8A&thid=OIP.XqBCID5UWi_JNZG6jfApJgEsDL&q=children+and+families&simid=608037555530892909&selectedIndex=66


18

Service Developments 

 Significant investment has been allocated to the fostering service to increase the 

staffing resource in response to a predicted increased cohort of foster carers. This 

investment aims to meet the increased number of children in care and ensure carer 

support is not compromised;

 Unannounced visits to foster carers, in the majority of cases, is being undertaken by 

an independent social worker as opposed to their allocated social worker; 

 A heightened focus on the quality of Annual Reviews of foster carers is underway 

whilst maintaining compliance regarding timescales;

 A new streamlined and equitable payment scheme for foster carers was introduced; 

 The link between the new payment scheme and attendance of foster carers at 

support groups and training has improved attendance rates;

 Development work took place throughout the year to capture and report data in 

Liquid Logic in respect of the fostering service.

Looking Forward 

The Fostering Service is key to the delivery of our Sufficiency Strategy and improving 

outcomes for our children in care. The key areas of focus are therefore:

 To increase the number of placements available within the service, thereby working  

towards the target of 80% of children living with in-house foster carers;

 As part of the above, increasing the rate of enquiry to approval from 6.6% to 7.5%;

 To develop a Retention Strategy to support net growth of the service;

 To drive forward developments within Liquid Logic to further refine  reporting 

mechanisms;

 To roll out and embed the specific fostering auditing programme; 

 To formulate an Improvement Action Plan in response to data and audit outcomes;

 To strive to match children to carers when thy enter care, achieving the right 

placement first time.

Page 34



19

Adoption

The Annual Adoption Report (2018/19) was also considered by the Corporate Parenting 

Group at their meeting in June 2019. It highlighted the following:

 As at the end March 2019, 23 children had been adopted (compared to 38 children 

last year and 29 the year before);

 9 children were awaiting adopters (a reduction 

from 28 last year), 6 of whom formed part of a 

sibling group who are particularly hard to place;

 During the year there has been a 6% reduction in 

the number of children whose plan is adoption, 

against a national reduction of 9%); 

 After reporting a significant number of children 

matched with adopters last year, this year has 

brought a 40% increase compared to last year;

 21 children were placed with their adoptive families (an 18% increase compared to 

last year);

 The number of children who had their Permanence Plan finalised through the 

granting of an Adoption Order this year reduced significantly by 39%;

 During the year there were 156 enquiries from people about becoming adopters 

which resulted in 27 approved adoptive families – a 17% conversion (compared to 

12% last year).

Service Developments

Over the last 3 years the County’s Adoption Service have been working collaboratively with 

Bath, North East Somerset, North Somerset, Bristol, South Gloucestershire and Wiltshire to 

form the Regional Adoption Agency (RAA), Adoption West. Adoption West is a wholly 

owned Local Authority company in which all local authorities have an equal share. It 

commenced operations on 1st March 2019 and actions going forward are:

 To grow and build upon a successful marketing approach to continue to recruit 

potential adopters with Adoption West;

Page 35



20

 To increase the number of adopters willing to adopt sibling groups and older children 

with more complex needs;

 To ensure the move forward to become Adoption West does not adversely impact 

upon the children and families within Gloucestershire;

Looking forward 

It is still early days in terms of determining impact for Gloucestershire’s children but the 

Annual Adoption Report, scheduled for consideration at the September meeting of The 

Corporate Parenting Group, will provide a progress report within which the impact of the 

transfer to Adoption West will be portrayed. In the meantime, actions going forward are:

 To continue to develop relationships with other organisations, including our partners 

in the regional agency;

 To monitor performance and trends throughout the year compared to the national 

picture and analyse changes as a result of the transition to Adoption West.

 To register Adoption West as an Independent Fostering Agency to facilitate dual 

approval (Foster to Adopt – early permanence).

Health: 

The Annual Health Report was considered by The Corporate 

Parenting Group at their meeting in September 2019 and our health 

colleagues highlighted the following:  

 As at the end of March 2019 19% of children had received 

their Initial Health Assessments (IHAs) within 20 working 

days4;

 A significant factor which contributed towards the delay in 

children receiving their IHA was late receipt of paperwork from Children’s Social Care 

to Hadwen surgery; 

4 Health data

Page 36



21

 A shortfall in the capacity of The Children in Care Nursing Team and a backlog of 

Review Health Assessments (within the context of the rising numbers of children in 

care and the allocated resource itself), which resulted in;

 14.5% of children received their RHAs on time5;

 Timeliness of access to mental health services for children in care was affected due 

to vacancies in staffing;

 The lack of compliance with Statutory Guidance regarding provision of the Named 

Nurse role;

 Access to Liquid Logic for some health colleagues is helping to improve timeliness of 

recording;

 The production of a short video about the purpose of Health Assessments and what 
to expect which was influenced by Ambassadors and children in care. 

Service Developments

The following activity was led jointly by colleagues within health and children’s social care:

 A strategic review of the specialist health service delivering Review Health 

Assessments was carried out in response to capacity issues and the 

recommendations were accepted;

 Developments were taken forward to establish the Named Nurse role and the post 

was filled on a secondment basis pending permanent recruitment;

 Recruitment of staff took place within the Child and Adolescent Mental Health 

Service6

 Mechanisms were established to improve data quality and reporting;

 Access to Liquid Logic was agreed for administrative staff within Hadwen Surgery;

 Joint work is underway to drive forward timely access to health assessments, led by 

The Health Champion’s Group which has a revised focus and wider membership;

 The new Practitioner’s Guidance (for Children’s Social Care), ‘Promoting Healthy 

Outcomes for Children in Care and Preparation for Care Leavers’  was launched via 

locality roadshows, and was also presented to The Corporate Parenting Group in 

December.

5 Health data
6 Previously known as Children & Young People Services (CYPS)

Page 37



22

Looking forward

Whilst improvements are still required in respect of timeliness of health assessments, good 

progress has been made over the last 12 months and we’re on the right trajectory. The 

relationship between health and children’s social care is positive and productive and there is 

joint ownership and acceptance of what need to happen to improve practice.  Over the 

coming months:

 Health colleagues will take forward the actions agreed from the Strategic Review of 

Specialist Health Services, including the permanent appointment of a Named Nurse;

 A targeted approach will be jointly managed to improve timeliness of IHAs;

 The Practitioner’s Guide will be embedded into day-to-day practice, led by The 

Health Champion’s Group.

Children Missing from Care:

The Annual Report of Children Missing from Care was considered by The Corporate Group in 

September 2019. It highlighted the following:

 The absence category is not used by Gloucestershire Constabulary or GCC in 

recognition that children/young people should always be classed as missing rather 

than absent;  

 Children can run to or away from something (pull/push factors);  

 Children in care are 3 times more likely to run away than other children;

 During the year 91 children in care were reported missing and this comprised 725 

episodes;

 43% were reported missing more than once with 4% missing for more than 20 

episode

 7% of children7 were not offered a return home interview8

Children’s Services are responsible for supporting children and young people whether they 

go missing from home or care.  They are entitled to a Return Interview by the local authority 

7 This refers to all children, not just those in care
8 Known as a Return Interview in Gloucestershire in line with feedback from young people

Page 38



23

where they live and this should occur within 72 hours although it should be recognised that 

some young people are not ready to talk at that point. Information gained from these 

interviews assists in determining and addressing the issues for individual young people and 

also in gaining information of a more strategic nature which may be of assistance across a 

number of agencies.

Service Developments 

 Work is underway with young people to reduce the number of missing episodes;

 Children’s Services have increased the resource in order to more effectively gather 

strategic information from return interviews and support social workers to complete 

them and progress the information as appropriate into trigger and care plans.

Looking forward

Children and young people who go missing from home or care can be among the most 

vulnerable in our society. Often there are links to criminal and sexual exploitation, county 

lines or complex family issues which impact negatively on the child or young person’s health 

and wellbeing and safety. Addressing the volume of children in care who go missing must 

therefore continue to be a high priority and use of feedback from return home interviews 

must inform interventions from both an individual and strategic level. We will therefore:

 Continue to address the prevalence of missing episodes;

 Increase the proportion of return interviews offered;

 Focus on developmental work which segregates data relating to children in care 

from all children who go missing.

Education:

In January this year, the Corporate Parenting Group considered the Annual Report of The 

Virtual Head Teacher which followed a presentation given at their previous meeting. The 

educational outcomes in respect of the academic year September 2018 to July 

2019 were summarised as follows: 

 Early Years 2018-19: 10 students entering the Reception Year. 56% of 

students in Reception Year have met the EYFS goals;

Page 39



24

 Key stage 1 2018-19: 2019 the eligible cohort was 8 and 1 student achieved the 

national standard scaled score (12.5%). 2 students from the eligible cohort were not 

entered for SATs;

 Key stage 2 2018-19: Eligible Cohort = 30 students, 2 students from eligible cohort at 

Special School were not entered for SATs, 16 students (53.3% of the whole cohort) 

(57% of entered cohort) made expected or better progress.

 Key stage 4 2018-19: 13% of the eligible cohort achieved grade 4 in English and 

Maths in 2019.

 Attendance across reception to Year 11 was 93%;

 99% of children and young people from Reception to Year 11 had a Personal 

Education Plan.

Service Developments   

The Virtual Head Teacher is leading a programme of activities to drive forward key 

improvement priorities as follows:

 To establish a Virtual School Governing Board in 2020

 With schools, improve educational outcomes with a focus upon progress, exclusions 

and attendance;

 To increase the number of 16+ in education, employment and training;

 To develop a protocol with Children’s Social Care to clarify expectations at:

 Entry to care;

 Placement moves;

 At discharge from care.

The Care Leavers’ Strategy and Local Offer

The strategy has been finalised and was considered by The 

Corporate Parenting Group in December. Ambassador’s 

voices are integral to the strategy, which has been 

synchronised with The Sufficiency Strategy. Included within 

Page 40



15

our current offer is a clear and concise message of what all our children are entitled to 

receive, whether they’re placed in or out of county.  

Key actions following our last monitoring visit along with our visit from The National Advisor 

for Care Leavers have been included within the action plan.

A Partnership Conference took place in February to enable us to strengthen and improve 

our care leaver experiences.  The conference was a great success and has since been 

followed up by way of a letter from The Director of Children’s Services highlighting the need 

to commit fully to the pledges made and to develop them further.

Looking Forward

 All Pathway Plan will provide the evidence that the available tools are being used; 

 Thematic audits will be undertaken to assess compliance and the improve the quality of 

Pathway Plans;

 Commitments made at The Partnership Event from representatives within Children’s 

Social Care and partner agencies will be followed through and developed further.

Trevone House

At the September meeting of The Corporate Parenting Group, Commissioning 

representatives, along with colleagues from health, provided an update regarding the 

developments with Trevone House. The plan is to provide a mix of accommodation to meet 

a range of priority needs as follows:

 Day service provision; 

 1 x 28 day or PACE bed;

 Semi-independent accommodation for young people – 5 x studio, 5 x 1 bed, 4 x 2 

bed;

 A Health Suit comprising a Section 136 Assessment Centre, 2 x 1 bedroomed  flats 

(place of safety) and  2 x 1 bed flats for young people coming out of psychiatric care;   

 Edge of Care – out of hours provision edge of care support for families/placements;

 Minimum of 4 staff on site at all times (24/7)

Page 41



16

 A good/outstanding delivery partner is required to develop the model and a tender 

process planned for mid October with a view to launching in May/June 2020.

 There is a planned open day for people to visit before it is opened.

Looking Forward

 Award the contract for delivery of services;

 Launch the service from May/June 2020.

Unregistered Placements

At the March meeting of The Corporate Parenting Group commissioning colleagues 

provided feedback on work that has been undertaken to address placements assessed to be 

unregistered.  It was acknowledged that nationally this had become an issue and therefore 

social work teams and providers had been visited to highlight the difference between 

unregistered and unregulated provision.  

A review of identified placements had been undertaken and mechanisms implemented to 

address those placements that were assesses to be unregistered.

Looking forward

 Additional High Cost/High Complexity panels will be established to assist oversight, 

monitoring and to inform action;

 A new checklist, led by commissioning at point of the placement search and based 

on the Ofsted Checklist will be established;

 A Provider Event will be held with 21 semi independent providers.  

Forward Plan

Page 42



17

This report has provided an overview of the activity of The Corporate Parenting Group in 

2019/20 and Appendix 3 provides a summary of the key actions highlighted alongside those 

services which support our children in care

Table 6 below sets out the schedule of Annual Reports for the forthcoming year. 

Report July 
2020

Sep 
2020

Dec 
2020

March 
2021

Annual Report of The Corporate 
Parenting Group 2019/20

√

Annual Report of The Reviewing Service 
2019/20

√

Annual Report of Children Missing from 
Care 2019/20

√

Annual Report of The Fostering Service 
2019/20

√

Annual Report of The Adoption Service 
2019/20

√

Annual Report of Health of Children in 
Care (CCG/CSC)

√

Annual Report of the Virtual Head 
Teacher 2019/20

√

                                                                              Table 6

Appendix 1

Page 43



18

Responsibilities of The Corporate Parenting Group: 

1) To monitor the impact of services for children in care and through effective 

challenge make recommendations regarding the ways in which the council and its 

partner agencies can improve the life chances of children in care and care leavers; 

2) To listen to the views of children in care, young people and their carers, take account 

of their views  and  involve them in the development and delivery of services;

3) To ensure children in care and care leavers are involved in the preparation of the 

corporate parenting agenda;

4) To agree an annual work programme for the setting out of the group’s key priorities 

and areas for action. The programme to be included in the annual report to council;

5) To maintain a strategic overview of new developments, initiatives, plans, policies and 

strategies for children in care and drive improved outcomes; 

6) To ensure all partners delivering services to children in care and care leavers are 

engaged in implementing the Corporate Parenting Strategy;

7) To oversee the elected members ‘Pledge’ to children in care; 

8) To work with the Council’s Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee in addressing matters warranting investigation;  

9) To ensure good joint working arrangements between the council and partner 

agencies, maintaining an overview of how care services are provided and holding 

operational services to account; 

10) To consider performance related management information (which is both 

quantitative and qualitative) from the services delivering to  children in care and care 

leavers;

11) To take account of the direct experiences of those carers who look after children in 

care by inviting them  to assist in influencing the improvement of services and policy 

development; 

Page 44



19

12) To maximise opportunities for children and young people through improved   

educational outcomes, training and career opportunities;

13) To acknowledge and celebrate the achievements of children and young people in 

care.  

 

Appendix 2

Page 45



20

The Corporate Parenting Pledge

Context: The Corporate Parenting Principles 

In order to thrive, children and young people have certain key needs that good parents 

generally meet. The Corporate Parenting Principles set out seven principles that local 

authorities must have regard to when exercising their functions in relation to looked after 

children and young people, as follows: 

 to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and well-

being, of those children and young people 

 to encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes and 

feelings 

 to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young 

people 

 to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use of, 

services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners 

 to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those 

children and young people 

 for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home lives, 

relationships and education or work; and 

 to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent living. 

Page 46



21

All Gloucestershire County Councillors are Corporate Parents and as such, take their role 

and responsibilities seriously as if they are our own children. The Council will support 

Members in fulfilling their role by:

 Ensuring they are equipped with the knowledge and information about the 

corporate parenting work of the Council;

 Providing them with training opportunities to assist in the development of their role;

 Hosting events, facilitated by Ambassadors with care experience and the Children in 

Care Council (CiCC), to provide contextual information and share the work of the 

CiCC;

 Publishing a schedule of events concerning children in care and care leavers in order 

that Members can become involved and celebrate their achievements.

As a County Councillor for Gloucestershire County Council, I understand I am a Corporate 

Parent for our children in care and I will take my role seriously. I will do my best to attend 

events and learn more about our children and young people in order that I can champion 

their needs as appropriate.

I understand I will be provided with an ongoing schedule of events and I will confirm which 

events I can attend.

Name: ………………………………..

Signature: ………………………………..

Date: ………………………………..

Page 47



22

Appendix 3

Key Actions for 2020/21 Leads

Corporate Parenting:

Host an event in the autumn for Elected Members to provide an 
update regarding children in care and care leavers

Ambassadors/ 
Participation 
Manager/Strategic Lead, 
Children in Care

Attend all events hosted by Voice Gloucestershire and 
Ambassadors and encourage colleagues to do the same

The Corporate Parenting 
Group

Encourage children in care and care leaver’s voices to be heard 
louder in Children & Families Overview & Scrutiny Committee

The Corporate Parenting 
Group

Support the Access to Records Project The Corporate Parenting 
Group

County Councillors to complete a one-page profile to support 
their accessibility for children in care and care leavers

The Corporate Parenting 
Group

The Reviewing Service:

Improve the ‘IRO footprint’ on children’s files, Head of Quality

Focus on quality in addition to compliance, specifically 
regarding planning and permanence

Head of Quality

Improve the feedback loop to children and young people to 
ensure they see and reap from the benefits of having an IRO

Head of Quality

Link IROs with specific localities to foster improving 
relationships

Head of Quality

Fostering:

Increase the number of placements available in-house Head of Service, 
Permanence

Increase the rate of enquiry to approval from 6.6% to 7.5% Head of Service, 
Permanence

Develop a good quality Retention Strategy Head of Service, 
Permanence

Drive forward ongoing developments within Liquid Logic Head of Service, 
Permanence

Page 48



23

Roll out and embed the fostering auditing programme Head of Service, 
Permanence

Formulate an Improvement Action Plan Head of Service, 
Permanence

Strive to match children to carers as early as possible in their 
care journeys

Head of Service, 
Permanence

Adoption:

Develop relationships with other organisations, including our 
partners in the regional agency

Head of Service, 
Permanence

Monitor performance and trends throughout the year and 
address as appropriate 

Head of Service, 
Permanence

Register Adoption West as an Independent Fostering Agency Head of Service, 
Permanence

Health:

Implement the actions agreed from the Strategic Review of 
Specialist Health Services

Designated Nurse, CiC

Target an  approach to jointly improve timeliness of IHAs Strategic Lead, Children 
in Care 

 (via Health Champions)

Embed The Practitioners’ Guide into day-to-day practice Strategic Lead, Children 
in Care 

 (via Health Champions)

Education:

Establish a Virtual School Governing Board The Virtual Head Teacher

With schools, improve educational outcomes with a focus upon 
progress, exclusions and attendance;

The Virtual Head Teacher

Increase the number of 16+ in education, employment and 
training;

The Virtual Head Teacher

Develop a protocol with Children’s Social Care to clarify 
expectations at:

 Entry to care;
 Placement moves;

The Virtual Head Teacher

Page 49



24

 At discharge from care

Care Leavers:

Undertake thematic audits to assess compliance with use of 
tools and quality of Pathway Plans

Heads of Service for Care 
Leavers

Ensure commitments from within Children’s Social Care and 
partner agencies are followed through and developed further

Heads of Service for Care 
Leavers

Trevone House:

Award the contract for delivery of services Assistant Director, 
Integrated 
Commissioning

Launch the service from May/June 20209 Assistant Director, 
Integrated 
Commissioning

Unregistered Placements:

Establish additional High Cost/High Complexity panels Assistant Director, 
Integrated 
Commissioning

Implement a new checklist based on the Ofsted Checklist Assistant Director, 
Integrated 
Commissioning

Hold a provider event with semi independent providers Assistant Director, 
Integrated 
Commissioning

 

9 COVID-19 has affected timescales for delivery of services. Building works had to stop 8 weeks prior to completion and the 
site re-opened at the end of May. The service is now likely to be launched late in 2020.

Page 50



Motions to Council 9 September 2020

Chief Executive’s accompanying notes 

Motion 864 Restoring our rivers
Proposed by Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Seconded by Cllr Bernard Fisher

This Council notes that:
 Gloucestershire is fortunate to have 28 rivers 

running through our county, including the 
River Severn and River Thames, Britain’s 
longest and second longest rivers.

 However, many of these waterways are 
flooded with harmful pollutants, including raw 
sewage discharges from water treatment 
operators Thames Water, Severn Trent and 
Wessex Water.

 This pollution is causing extensive damage to 
the fragile ecosystems around our county.

 It can also prove a serous public health 
concern for those residents living near rivers 
or using them for leisure activities; with 
pathogens able to cause serious illnesses.

 Furthermore, traces of Covid-19 have been 
found in sewage outputs in global hotspots.

This Council recognises that dumping raw sewage 
into rivers is currently legal in extreme 
circumstances, but also recognises claims that the 
use of these measures has become routine for some 
operators.

This Council believes that the adverse impacts on 
the county’s waterways are unacceptable and that 
water treatment operators need to adjust their 
behaviour and invest more in the networks to avoid 
damaging our county’s public resources.

This Council also believes that the county’s 
waterways are a resource that every resident should 
be confident in using safely, and that we should 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



strive to have the country’s first designated bathing 
waters in rivers, which could bring great economic 
and social benefits to Gloucestershire.

This Council therefore resolves to 
 Call on the Cabinet to take urgent action with 

District Councils, the Environment Agency, 
local partners and communities to lead 
comprehensive monitoring of the county’s 
waterways to determine the extent of the 
damage caused by raw sewage and 
pollutants.

 Call on the Cabinet to work with local 
partners, including The Rivers Trust and water 
treatment operators to promote better use of 
sewage facilities – recognising that everyone 
has a role to play in improving our waterways. 

 Write to the Secretary of State for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, to ban 
the routine dumping of raw sewage into our 
rivers, with the ultimate aim of restoring our 
rivers to a state where we can safely swim in 
them and to protect their environment and 
biodiversity.

Climate change implications There are no climate change implications in raising 
awareness with local partners, companies and 
communities

Resource implications There are no direct resource implications for the 
County Council in raising awareness with local 
partners, companies and communities if delivered 
within existing boards.  

Human Rights implications N/A

Other implications relating to 
Council’s policy framework

Whilst the Council has some responsibility for the 
smaller rivers (‘Ordinary Watercourses’), this does 
not extend to the larger (‘Main’) rivers or to pollution 
control, which are the responsibility of the 
Environment Agency.

Page 52



Motion 865 Public Health England
Proposed by Cllr Iain Dobie
Seconded by TBA

This Council recognises the hard work of the County 
Council’s Public Health officials when looking to 
tackle the first wave of the Covid-19 pandemic in 
Gloucestershire.

This Council also notes that the team has had to 
work within the confines of a 25 per cent cut to the 
whole public health budget in England compared to 
2015, which commentators have said limited the 
UK’s ability to respond effectively to Covid-19.

This Council further notes, with dismay, that the 
current Government is seeking to dismantle Public 
Health England at a time when the Office of National 
Statistics estimate that some 2,400 people are still 
being infected every day.

This Council believes that the break-up of PHE at 
this time is politically motivated to shift the blame 
from this Government to unelected state officials, 
that it will take time and resources away from 
tackling the pandemic and that it will harm the 
country’s recovery and ability to tackle local 
outbreaks as we move into the potentially dangerous 
winter months.  This council is also concerned that 
doing so without any plan for preventative functions 
(such as tackling smoking) could leave these critical 
services rudderless. 
 
This Council also believes that it will be essential, as 
soon as this pandemic is under control, to hold a 
thorough and transparent investigation into the 
Government’s handling of the pandemic, which may 
well have implications for the agency responsible for 
pandemic planning – though only when appropriate – 
and will likely acknowledge the need for greater 
delegation to local public health experts. 
 

Page 53



This Council resolves to request the Chief Executive 
and Council Leader to write to the Secretary of State 
for Health to:

 Express this Council’s grave concerns about 
the dismantling of Public Health England in 
the midst of a pandemic.

 Reiterate the need for a thorough and 
transparent enquiry into why the UK has one 
of the highest Covid-19 mortality rates in the 
world.

 Call for the 25 per cent cut in funding since 
2015 to be reinstated.

Climate change implications N/A

Resource implications In 15/16 the PH grant to Gloucestershire County 
Council was £27.67m, in 20/21 it is £24.28m. A 
reduction of £3.39m. The grant has increased in 
20/21 by £0.65m to cover inflation and some of the 
Agenda for Change costs

Human Rights implications N/A

Other implications relating to 
Council’s policy framework

N/A

Page 54



Motion 866 Rainbow flag crossings 
Proposed by Cllr Kate Haigh
Seconded by Cllr Lesley Williams

This Council notes that the public realm can be used 
by local authorities to promote inclusivity and 
community cohesion and to advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations between those 
who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not.

Council further notes that long lasting and colourful 
road crossings can also enhance the design of the 
public realm and provide interesting and safer places 
to cross the road.

This Council therefore resolves to call on the Cabinet 
to create inclusive rainbow flag crossing in 
Gloucester City centre in time for Pride month 2021 
and to enter into discussions with other districts 
about suitable locations for crossings to be located 
over the next 2 years. This will support Pride in 
Gloucestershire’s bid for Europride 2026 to be held 
in the county.

Climate change implications There are no significant climate change implications.  
However, removing and re-laying the road surface 
would generate some carbon emissions.

Resource implications N/A

Human Rights implications N/A

Other implications relating to 
Council’s policy framework

The DfT have provided the following advice 
regarding Rainbow Crossings:

“The Department for Transport is aware that this has 
been used in a few places and our view is that you 
would need to seek your own legal advice as to 
whether your proposals comply with the relevant 
legislation. 
 
All pedestrian crossings are regulated by the Traffic 
Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016 
(TSRGD). This includes zebras, puffins, and the type 
of pedestrian facilities at junctions referred to here.

Page 55



 
TSRGD prescribes the signs, signals and markings 
that must be used to create the different types of 
crossing. The Traffic Signs Manual gives guidance 
on the use of road markings in Chapter 5, but the 
requirements of TSRGD take precedence over any 
good practice guidance. 
 
In the Department’s view, coloured surfacing is not 
considered a traffic sign or road marking and 
therefore doesn’t come within the scope of the 
TSRGD. It has no legal meaning and therefore could 
be placed within the crossing studs at a signal-
controlled crossing, or pedestrian facility at a 
junction. 
 
The use of surfacing in this way needs careful 
thought. Striped designs must be avoided – there is 
a trend to use surfacing materials (e.g. different 
types of stone paviour) in patterns to mark informal 
crossings, including some that are striped. Our view 
is that any crossing that is not a zebra must not 
resemble one. That would extend to using a striped 
pattern at a signalled crossing. Zebra crossings have 
a defined priority in law, and anything that looks like 
one could lead pedestrians to assume priority when it 
doesn’t exist. The artwork must not alter the 
appearance of the prescribed crossing signals, signs 
and markings in any way, as this may mean they 
were no longer compliant with TSRGD.
 
I would like to draw a couple of practical points to 
your attention – if there is a notice or poster 
explaining what the artwork is, then it should be sited 
so that people don’t block the footway when they 
stop to read it, or have to put themselves in a 
dangerous position. And if this is to be a permanent 
installation, then there is a need to think about 
maintenance in the longer term as surfacing can 
have quite a short life. 
 
Any authority using these should consider the 
possible impact on road users, perhaps through a 

Page 56



risk assessment process.”

Therefore such crossings should be seen as informal 
in nature, and as such are suitable in a  shared use 
street, pedestrian zone or somewhere  there was 
already slow / controlled vehicle speeds and that 
there was  doubt /uncertainty as to who has the right 
of way.  They are not suitable as a replacement for 
an existing zebra crossing or as an alternative to a 
new one on a traditional main road where vehicles 
and pedestrians are clearly segregated.

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Scrutiny and working group update

July 2020

1 Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee

 Support to Care Homes during Covid-19
 Impact and Changes to GFRS Delivery as a result of 

Covid-19

7 July 2020

2 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Member Question and Answer Briefing held on 1 June 2020.

 Covid-19 Temporary Service changes
 Fit for the Future Update

14 July 2020

3 Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

Member question and answer briefing held on 11 June 2020.

  Children Services Improvement Journey and Covid-19 16 July 2020

4 Environment Scrutiny Committee

Member Question and Answer briefing to be held on 18 June 
2020.

 Executive Director’s Report: Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure

1 July 2020

5 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Member Question and Answer briefing held on 26 May 2020.

 Strategic Performance Update
 Finance Monitoring Report

23 July 2020

Page 59

Agenda Item 10

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=774&MId=9505&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=774&MId=9505&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=772&MId=9519&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=670&MId=9379&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=773&MId=9576&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=771&MId=9498&Ver=4


2

 Equality and Diversity Member Champion Proposal

6 Economic Growth Joint Scrutiny

 Joint Committee update
 GFirst LEP update
 Covid-19 response – planning for Gloucestershire’s 

Economic Recovery

2 July 2020

7 Police and Crime Panel

 Covid-19: Lessons learned and Policing the ‘new normal’
 OPCC Chief Executive report
 OPCC Draft Annual Report
 OPCC Appointment of Chief Executive Officer


17 July 2020

8 Working groups

 Single use plastics – The next meeting will be held on 10 September 2020

 Taxi licensing  – A draft report is currently being finalised to share with the group 
and supporting officers for comment.

 Public participation –  The next meeting will be held on 14 September 2020.

 Member Development – Meeting to be held TBC

 Road Safety Cabinet Panel – meeting TBC

Page 60

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=731&MId=9886&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=9384&Ver=4


 
 

Cabinet Decision Statement – 17 June 2020 

 
 

Gloucestershire 
County Council 

 

Published – 17 June 2020  

 

Agenda 
Item 

 

 
Decision 

 
Portfolio  

5   GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL (GCC) COVID-19 
RESPONSE & APPROACH TO RECOVERY  
 
Cabinet received a presentation on the Council’s response to the 
Covid-19 Emergency.  
 
Having considered the information, Cabinet  
  
RESOLVED to: -   
 
To note the report and the actions currently being undertaken in 
response to Covid-19.  
 
The report included information on: 
 
1. The role of the Council in responding to the Covid-19 

pandemic and  lockdown restrictions; 
 

2. A summary of the services that had stopped or reduced 
across the Council 
 

3. An outline of the initial recovery phase for the Council. 
 

Leader of Council 

6   UPDATE TO THE COUNCIL STRATEGY: LOOKING TO THE 
FUTURE 2019-2022  
 
Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, gave an update on 
changes to the Council Strategy in response to the Council’s 
declaration of a climate emergency in May 2019.  
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: -   
 
Recommend to council that the updated Council Strategy be 
adopted, (the recommendation was considered at the county 
council meeting on 24 June 2020). 
 
 

Leader of Council 

Page 61

Agenda Item 11a



 

 

 

 
 

  

7   REVENUE & CAPITAL EXPENDITURE OUTTURN REPORT 
2019-20  
 
Cabinet received an update on the council’s outturn expenditure for 
2019/20 and considered changes and commendations to the 
Capital Programme.  
 
Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: 
 

1) Note the overall 2019/2020 revenue budget underspend of 
£0.326 million and approve the following transfers: -  

 
1.1 Transfer of £0.011 million to the Vulnerable Adults 
Reserve to use  on 2020/21 projects and investments to 
supports the Adult Single Programme; 

 
1.2 Provision of £1.575 million (being £1.050 million in 
Adults and £0.525 million in Prevention and Wellbeing) for 
refunds to service users where income was incorrectly 
collected from current and former residents receiving S117 
‘after care’; 

 
1.3 Provision of £0.456 million for backdated 
reimbursements to Shared Lives Carers in respect of Utility 
payments; 

 
1.4 Carry forward of £0.151 million to 2020/21 to complete 
two year projects within Children’s Services which were 
originally funded by additional “one off” budget allocations in 
2017/18. The initial start of these projects was delayed. 

 
1.5 Transfer of £0.352 million from the Active Communities    
Reserve. 

 
1.6 Revenue transfer of £1.433 million to the Strategic 
Waste Reserve to fund the EFW (Energy from Waste) 
smoothing requirement;. 

 
1.7 Revenue transfer of £0.393 million to the EE&I Reserve 
for the carry forward of Highways Local funding; 

 
1.8 Revenue transfer £0.015 million of the surplus 
generated by Traded Services to the Traded Services 
Reserve;  

 
1.9 Revenue transfer to the Transformation Reserve from 
Corporate Resources for the carry forward of £0.115 million 
to fund GDPR compliance initiatives. 

 

Finance and Change 

Page 62



 

 

 

 
 

  

1.10 Revenue transfer to the Transformation Reserve from 
Corporate Resources for the carry forward of £0.206 million 
to fund on going Covid-19 commitments. 

 
1.11 Transfer £0.759 million to the Business Rates 
Retention Reserve in relation to the GCC share of the 
additional surplus on the 2019/20 Business Rates Pool. In 
addition, to approve a transfer of £0.948 million to the 
Strategic Economic Development Fund also as a result of 
the Business Rates Pool;  

 
1.12 Other technical reserve movements for 2019/20, as set 
out in Annex 1 
 

2. Note delivery of the £14.492 million of savings against a target of 
£19.051 million in 2019/20 or 76.1%. 
 
3. Note the capital budget position for 2019/20 is £88.461 million 
against a budget of £110.950 million, giving in year slippage of 
£22.489 million. 
 
4. Changes to the Capital Programme totalling a net decrease of 
£1.187 million for 2019/20 and future years made up of:- 
 

4.1. £0.055 million increase for Children and Families 
schemes funded by a transfer from the AMPS programme 
and a revenue contribution from AMPS. 
 
4.2. £2.107 million net decrease in the Highway Capital 
programme reflecting a £2.950 million decreased in the 
capital receipts approval required for the LED replacement 
scheme, and additional funding of £0.618 million of 
developer and third party contributions and Highways 
Locals revenue contributions of £0.225 million. 
 
4.3. £0.201 million increase in the Libraries capital budget 
funded from developer contributions 
 
4.4. £0.039 million increase in the Trading Standards capital 
budget funded from a revenue contribution 
 
4.5. £0.131 million increase in property works before sale, 
funded from capital receipts. 
 
4.6. £0.025 million decrease in the AMPS capital budget, 
relating to the transfer to the Children & Families capital 
programme. 
 
4.7. £0.519 million increase in the ICT capital budget funded 
from a revenue contribution. 

 
 
 

Page 63



 

 

 

 
 

  

8   CHILDREN & FAMILIES CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE  
 
Cabinet considered changes to the previously approved Children 
and Families Capital Programme. 
 
Having considered the information, including known proposals, 
alternative options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: 
 
Approve the following changes to the Children & Families Capital 
Programme (as set out in the report): 
 

1. A new scheme for the provision of additional places at 
Belmont Special School, funded by the transfer of 
£0.450million from the approved Basic Need Provision. 

 
2. A new scheme for the provision of additional places at 

Battledown Children & Families Centre, funded by the 
transfer of £0.550 million from the approved Basic Need 
Provision. 

 
3. A new scheme for the provision of additional places at 

Alderman Knight Special School, funded by the transfer of 
£1.400 million from the approved  High Needs Specialist 
budgets and approved Basic Need Provision. 

 
4. A new scheme for the provision of additional temporary 

places at Alderman Knight Special School, funded by the 
transfer of £0.500 from the approved Basic Need Provision. 

 
5. A new scheme for the provision of additional places at 

Paternoster Special School, funded by the transfer of 
£0.075 million from the approved Basic Need Budget. 

 
6. To return the £4.000 million previously agreed for additional 

primary provision in Winchcombe to the approved Basic 
Need Provision. 

 
7. To return the £1.500 million previously allocated for 

additional primary provision in the Tidenham area to the 
approved Basic Need Provision. 

 
8. An addition of £2.300 million to the approved scheme for 

The Cotswold School, funded from the approved Basic 
Need Provision. 

 
9. An addition of £2.700 million to the approved scheme for 

Winchcombe Secondary School, funded from the approved 
Basic Need Provision. 

 
10. An addition of £0.103 million developer S106 contribution 

Economy, Education 
and Skills 

Page 64



 

 

 

 
 

  

for Fairford Primary to replace allocated basic need funding. 
 

11. An addition of £0.288 million developer S106 contribution 
for Chipping Campden School. 

 
12. A reduction of £0.095 million School Condition Grant 

Allocation for 2020/21 to the Children and Families Capital 
Programme. 

 
13. A new scheme for the delivery of accessibility schemes, 

funded by the transfer of £0.600 million from the approved 
Basic Need Provision. 

 

9   WEST CHELTENHAM TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENT SCHEME; 
UK CYBER BUSINESS PARK – CONTRACT PROCUREMENT 
AND ANCILLARY ORDERS PHASES 3 & 4 AND WALKING AND 
CYCLING IMPROVEMENTS  
 
Cabinet received a report on the West Cheltenham Transport 
Improvement Scheme. 
 
Having considered the information, including known proposals, 
alternative options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: 
 
To delegate authority to the Lead Commissioner, Highway Authority 
(in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning) to: 
 

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process(es) for the 
supply of highway services and works relation to: (a) the 
West of Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme- UK 
Cyber Business Park Phases 3 & 4; and (b) the West 
Cheltenham Walking and Cycling Improvements; and award 
contract(s) for the provision of such services and works to 
the successful tenderer(s); and 

 
2. Make any other ancillary traffic regulation orders that might 

be required in order to successfully implement the Project 
(such as temporary traffic regulation orders (TTROs for 
speed limits etc) during the  construction phase of the 
Project. 

 

Environment and 
Planning 

10   M5 JUNCTION 10 IMPROVEMENT SCHEME; REVENUE 
BUDGET APPROVAL AND HOMES ENGLAND CONTRACT 
CONDITIONS AGREEMENT  
 
Having considered the information, including known proposals, 
alternative options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

Environment and 
Planning 

Page 65



 

 

 

 
 

  

RESOLVED to: 
 
1.Agree to 
 
1.1 Underwrite, at risk, an additional £2,150,000 to the 2020/21 
revenue budget to cover the period of April 2020 to September 
2020; 
 
1.2 Underwrite, at risk, up to an additional £6,479,000 to the 
2020/21revenue budget to cover the period of October 2020 to 
March 2021should there be a delay in signing the J10 GDA and to 
enable the J9 OBC to continue.; 
 
2. Delegate authority to the Executive Director Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member; Environment and Planning and the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources (and Section 151 Officer) to: 
 
3. Agree the terms and conditions which give rise to the GDA 
between GCC and Homes England in relation the M5J10 scheme, 
including the Heads of Terms. 
 
4. Authorise the County Council to execute the GDA between GCC 
and Homes England by affixing the council’s seal thereto. 
 
5. Authorise the execution of any supplemental documents or 
agreements necessary to facilitate the delivery of the M5J10 
scheme. 
  

11   EUROPEAN REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT FUND CAPITAL 
FUNDING FOR GLOUCESTER CANAL TOWPATH  
 

Having considered the information, including known proposals, 
alternative options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: 
 
Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, 
Environment & Infrastructure to: 
 

1) Enter into an ERDF capital funding agreement with the 
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government for the purpose of funding works in connection 
with the proposed Gloucestershire Canal Towpaths 
Upgrade. 

 
2) Enter into a funding agreement with the Canal & River Trust 

(CRT) in order to fund works to be carried out by CRT’s 
term contractor Kier with effect from September 2020 on 
CRT’s land between Elmore Lane West and Haywicks Lane. 

 

Highways and Flood 

Page 66



 

 

 

 
 

  

12   RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL - SECOND REVIEW OF THE 
STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (SCI) FOR 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE  
 
Having considered the information, including known proposals, 
alternative options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and, 
 
RESOLVED to  
 
Recommend to County Council to:- 
 
Adopt the 2nd Review Statement of Community Involvement for 
Gloucestershire in accordance with Section 23 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). 
 
Considered at the county council meeting on 24 June 2020. 
 

Environment and 
Planning 

 
 
The decisions published above will come into force and may be implemented on 25 July 2020, 
unless a request is made for the decision to be called-in.   

 
CALL-IN PROCEDURE 

 
A decision may only be only called-in if one or more of the following conditions are satisfied: -  
 

1) The decision conflicts in whole or part with any existing policy that has been formally 
approved or adopted by the Council;   
 

2) The decision would not be wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget;   
 

3) In making the decision, the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or 
Officer under delegated powers, has taken account of an irrelevant matter or failed to take 
account of a relevant matter, which in the opinion of the Chief Executive, had (or would 
have), a significant bearing on that decision;  
 

4) The Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or Officer under delegated 
powers, acted contrary to the Cabinet Procedure Rules, the Access to Information about 
the County Council’s Formal Business, and/or the principles of the decision making set out 
in Part 2, Article 7.02 of the Council’s Constitution.  

 
At least five members of the council must give notice in writing of their request to call-in a 
decision.  
 
The request, including reasons for the call-in, must be delivered to the Chief Executive before the 
end of the fifth working day after the day on which the decision is published.  
 
The request for a call-in of any of the decisions above should be made to Jo Moore (DSU) by 5 
pm on 24 July 2020. For information on the contents of this Decision Statement, please contact: -  
 
Jo Moore (Democratic Services Unit) 
Tel: 01452 324196; Fax: 01452 425240; email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 67

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Cabinet Decision Statement – 22 July 2020 

 
 

Gloucestershire 
County Council 

 

Published - Wednesday 22 July 2020   

 

Agenda 
Item 

 

 
Decision 

 
Portfolio  

6   FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2020/21  
 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, Cllr Lynden Stowe, gave 
an update on the year-end forecasts for the County Council’s 
Revenue and Capital Budgets 2020/21. 
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: -   
 
1. Note the forecast revenue year end position based on actual 

expenditure as at the end of May 2020 and June 2020 (Period 
3) forecasts for the 2020/21 financial year including  Covid-19 
forecast is an overspend of £15.707 million. The forecast 
excluding Covid-19 is an overspend £4.116 million.   

 
2. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of May 

2020 of £128.209 million against the revised budget of 
£122.176 million. 

 
3. Approve the £20.296 million increase to the capital programme 

as outlined in Section B of the report, including an RCCO of 
£0.125 million from the Flood Alleviation revenue budget 
towards the delivery of the capital Drainage programme. 

 

Finance and Change  

7   M5 JUNCTION 10 IMPROVEMENT SCHEME; 
COMMITMENT TO USE COMPULSORY PURCHASE 
POWERS  
 
Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, sought 
approval for cabinet to make an in-principle decision to exercise its 
compulsory purchasing powers for the acquisition of land to deliver 
the M5 Junction 10 Improvement Scheme, if required to deliver the 
scheme 
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
 

Environment and 
Planning 

Page 69

Agenda Item 11b



 

 

 

 
 

  

RESOLVED to: -   
 
Agree in principle the proposal to exercise its compulsory 
purchasing powers for the acquisition of land to deliver the M5 
Junction 10 Improvement Scheme, if required to deliver the 
scheme. 

 

8   REPLACEMENT OF GIS (HEALTHCARE) FLEET 
VEHICLES  
 
Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care: 
Delivery, sought approval for the tender and award of a contract for 
the replacement of the Council’s GIS (Healthcare) fleet vehicles.   
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: -   
 
Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure, in consultation with the Executive 
Director of Adult Social Care and the Cabinet Member for Adult 
Social Care Delivery to: 
 

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of 
replacement of GIS (Healthcare) fleet for the delivery of the 
Integrated Community Equipment Service.  To tender this 
requirement under the Crown Commercial Service 
Framework Agreement and ensure the replacement of fleet 
meets the business requirements to deliver the Integrated 
Community Equipment Service and ensures that the 
replacement of vehicles is economically advantageous and 
meets the requirements of the Council’s Climate Change 
Strategy (Clean Fleet Replacement Plan)  

 
2. Award such contract to the preferred tenderer 

 

Adult Social Care: 
Delivery 

9   FUTURE OPTIONS TO DELIVER THE HOUSEHOLD 
RECYCLING CENTRE (HRC) SERVICE  
 
Cabinet considered options for the delivery of Gloucestershire’s 
Household Recycling Centre (HRC) Service.  
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: -   
 
Delegate authority to the Executive Director for Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure to:  
 

Environment and 
Planning  

Page 70



 

 

 

 
 

  

1) Award to Ubico Limited, (a local authority owned “teckal” 
company of which GCC is a shareholder), without further 
competition,  a contract for the provision of Household 
Recycling Centre Management Services at all 5 County 
Council HRC sites in Gloucestershire. The proposed 
contract shall continue for an initial period of 5 years 
(commencing 7th August 2021) and include an option to 
extend its term for a further period of not more than 2 years. 
 

2) Exercise a 1 year extension option, (to expire 31st March 
2022), under each of the current materials reprocessing 
contracts listed in Annex 1 that were awarded under the 
Dynamic Procurement System described therein (the “DPS 
Materials Contracts”). 

 

10   MENTAL HEALTH ACCOMMODATION BASED SUPPORT  
 
Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cabinet Member Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning, sought to seek approval of a new commissioning 
strategy for people requiring mental health supported 
accommodation. 
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED that: -   
 

1) Due to the potential disruption to the timelines for this 
project, imposed by the operational impact of Covid-19 and 
for reasons of urgency brought about by unforeseeable 
events, delegate authority to the Executive Director, Adult 
Social Care to award to the incumbent supplier (namely 
GHCNHSFT), without further competition (i.e., direct award) 
an extension to timelines. This would be based on a risk 
assessment that would be reviewed every 4 weeks to allow 
this work to be undertaken safely. This would be for a 
maximum period of 6 months with an estimated maximum 
total value of £621,831.  

 
2) To delegate authority to the Executive Director, Adult Social 

Care to direct award the individual placement contracts with 
the existing 13 placement providers for mental health 
supported accommodation. This is for a period of up to 36 
months and the estimated maximum total value is 
£2,687,000.  

 
3) Approve the consolidation of the Service Recommissioning 

Team into integrated health and social care services for 
adults with Serious Mental Illness, via a Section 75 
Agreement with GHCNHSFT. This is for a period of 36 
month and the estimated maximum total value £1,043,985.  

 

Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning 

Page 71



 

 

 

 
 

  

11   COMMISSIONING YOUTH SUPPORT SERVICES  
 
Cabinet considered the direct award of a contract for the council’s 
integrated youth support services. 
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: -   
 
Agree a Direct Award to Prospects Services for integrated youth 
support services starting from April 2021 for a period of 12 months, 
with a strategic review, revised specification and open tender for 
new services beginning in April 2022. 

 

Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early 
Years 

12   NEW DIGITAL AND ICT SERVICE  
 
Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, 
sought cabinet approval to implement a new Digital and ICT 
operating model, including the procurement and appointment of 
third parties for the provision of ICT services at Gloucestershire 
County Council. 
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: -   
 

1. Approve the continued development and implementation of 
the proposed new Digital and ICT model as outlined in the 
published decision report. 

 
2. Agree the proposed procurement strategy set out in 

Appendix 2 and the intended in-sourcing of a number of 
services within ICT with the primary aim of increasing 
control over the Council’s ICT and Digital strategies, 
capacity and user experience.  

 
3. Delegate authority to the Director – People and Digital 

Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member Finance 
and Change, to conduct procurement processes (jointly with 
Gloucester City Council and other potential partners to the 
extent that such partners’ service requirements have been 
agreed with the county council) in respect of contracts for 
the supply of the services outlined below:  

 

 Data Centre Hosting 

 Cloud Hosting and Operations 

 Telephony – VOIP/Unified Comms 

 Mobile Telephony 

 Enterprise Support (2nd & 3rd line) 

 Security Operations 

Finance and Change 

Page 72



 

 

 

 
 

  

 System management (tooling) delivery and support 

 Printing (enabling the Canon contract) 
 

and to award such contracts to the preferred tenderers, within 
the limit of the total available cost budget of £11m pa. 

 
4. Delegate authority to the Director – People and Digital 

Services to award one or more contracts for terms of up to 5 
years after successfully conducting legally compliant 
procurement processes for the supply of network services 
and works for up to 100 buildings in relation to:  
 

a) the wider area network (WAN circuits across the County) 
b) the local area network (LAN connectivity within buildings) 
c) the installation of equipment (network devices) 
d) the firewall (NGFW (Next-Generation Firewall) including 

Web Content filtering solution) 
e) the public WiFi portal (centralised identity management 

enabling public WiFi across up to 100 buildings) 
f) a managed security service to install and administer the 

above network(s) 
with the total cost of capital investment not to exceed the 
£4m already funded within the MTFS. 
 

5. Delegate authority to the Director – People and Digital 
Services to make any other ancillary purchases that might 
be required in order to successfully implement the network 
replacement project (such as cables, network equipment 
and telephony solutions) during the implementation phase 
of the project. 

 

13   CONTRACTS RELATING TO THE SALE AND PURCHASE 
OF ELECTRICITY AND GAS  
 
Cabinet considered proposals relating to the terms of contracts for 
the sale of electricity and gas. 
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: -   
 
Delegate authority to the Executive Director for Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure to:  
 
1) Exercise an option, under the Council’s two current electricity 

purchasing and gas purchasing contracts with WME, to extend 
both their terms for a further period of 2 years commencing on 
the 1st April 2021 and expiring on 31st March 2023; 

 
2) Award to the Public Buying Organisation, WME, two 6-month 

contracts: one to manage the procurement of electricity and 

Environment and 
Planning  

Page 73



 

 

 

 
 

  

another to manage the procurement of gas on behalf of the 
Council, both commencing on 1st April 2023 and expiring on 30th 
September 2023; 

 
3) Exercise an option, under the Council’s current electricity sales 

contract with EDF Energy Ltd (EDFE), to extend its term for a 
further period of 2 years commencing on the 9th October 2021 
and expiring on 30th September 2023; 

 
4) Approve the Electricity Trading Protocol (and revisions thereof) 

to be used for the sale of electricity generated by the 
Gloucestershire Energy from Waste Facility at Javelin Park and 
the purchase of electricity for the Council estate and schools 
(including academies) use; and 
 

5) Make available Renewable Energy Guarantees of Origin 
(REGO) certificates generated by the Gloucestershire Energy 
from Waste Facility at Javelin Park in order to classify the 
consumption of electricity across the Council’s estate as 
renewable energy, at market rate as required.  

 

14   PROCUREMENT OF FOOD WASTE TREATMENT 
SERVICES  
 
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member: Environment and Planning, 
sought to approve the establishment of a procurement process and 
award of contract for the treatment of separated food waste, with 
effect from 1 October 2021. 
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: -   
 
Delegate authority to the Executive Director for Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure to: 
 

1) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a 
contract for the supply of food waste treatment services. 
Such services shall have as their purpose the treatment of 
Gloucestershire’s food waste that has been collected 
separately from residual waste. The proposed contract shall, 
subject to the outcome of further pre-market engagement, 
continue for an initial period of 8 years and include an option 
to extend the term for a further period of not more than 2 
years. 
 

2) Award such contract(s) to the preferred tenderer(s); 
 
Prior to the discussion on this item, the Leader of Council advised 
that, should Cabinet wish to discuss the contents of the exempt 
information referred to in Annex 1 of the report, consideration would 

Environment and 
Planning 

Page 74



 

 

 

 
 

  

need to be given as to whether the press and public should be 
excluded from the meeting in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of 
the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. Cabinet 
agreed to consider this item without making reference to the 
exempt information.  

 

15   MONITORING OFFICER CHANGES TO THE 
CONSTITUTION  
 
Cabinet noted a change to the Scheme of Delegation set out in Part 
3 of the Council’s Constitution by the Monitoring Officer. 
 
Having considered all of the information and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  
  
RESOLVED to: -   
 
Ratify a change to the Council’s Constitution by the Monitoring 
Officer on 13 July 2020, (as required under Article 15.02 of the 
Council’s Constitution).  

 

Leader of Council 

 
The decisions published above will come into force and may be implemented from Thursday 30 
July 2020, unless a request is made for the decision to be called-in.   

 
CALL-IN PROCEDURE 

 
A decision may only be only called-in if one or more of the following conditions are satisfied: -  
 

1) The decision conflicts in whole or part with any existing policy that has been formally 
approved or adopted by the Council;   
 

2) The decision would not be wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget;   
 

3) In making the decision, the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or 
Officer under delegated powers, has taken account of an irrelevant matter or failed to take 
account of a relevant matter, which in the opinion of the Chief Executive, had, (or would 
have), a significant bearing on that decision;  
 

4) The Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or Officer under delegated 
powers, acted contrary to the Cabinet Procedure Rules, the Access to Information about 
the County Council’s Formal Business, and/or the principles of the decision making set out 
in Part 2, Article 7.02 of the Council’s Constitution.  

 
At least five members of the council must give notice in writing of their request to call-in a 
decision. The request, including reasons for the call-in, must be delivered to the Chief Executive 
before the end of the fifth working day after the day on which the decision is published. The 
request for a call-in of any of the decisions above should be made to Jo Moore (DSU) by 5 pm on 
Wednesday 29 July 2020. For information on the contents of this Decision Statement, please 
contact Jo Moore (Democratic Services Unit) Tel: 01452 324196; Fax: 01452 425240; email: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 75

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

REPORT TO FULL COUNCIL – 9 September 2020  

 

Statement of Individual Cabinet Member Decisions 

taken from 1 February to 31 August 2020  

 

Decision 

Date 

Cabinet Portfolio 

Holder 
Decision 

Key 

Decision 

18 Feb 
2020 

 
 

Cllr Lyndon 

Stowe  

 

Cabinet Member 

for Finance and 

Change  

 

Procurement of Schools Information 
Management System (“IMS”) & Accounting 
Software  

 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change decided to reject the alternative options 
and take the recommended decision to: 
 
Delegate authority to the Director of Digital and 
People Services to: 

 
1. Award to the incumbent supplier, without 

further competition (i.e., direct award), a 
call-off contract for the supply of Schools 
IMS and Accounting Software under a 
Kent County Council framework 
agreement in accordance with the rules of 
that framework.  Such contract shall 
continue for an initial period of 1 year 
commencing April 2020 and include 
options to extend its term by one further 
year on each of the first, second, third and 
fourth anniversaries thereof (that is, a 
maximum term of five years). 
 

2. Authorise the Head of Legal Services to 
execute such contract by affixing the 
council’s seal thereto. 
 

3. Authorise the Head of ICT to exercise 
each of the options to extend the term of 
the contract annually as required, up to 
the maximum of 5 years in total described 
in Recommendation 1 for the reasons set 
out in the published decision report 

 

Yes 
 
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 11c



2 
 

21 Feb 
2020 

Cllr Lyndon 
Stowe  
 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance and 
Change  
 

Contract for the Supply of Agency Workers 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change decided to reject the alternative options 
and take the recommended decision to: 
 
Delegate authority to the Director of Digital and 
People Services to award to the incumbent 
supplier, namely “GRI”, a 12 month call off 
contract. 
 
This 12 month contract will be awarded without 
further competition, (ie, direct award), for the 
supply of temporary workers under the ESPO 
653F MSTAR 3 framework in accordance with 
the rules of that framework for the reasons set 
out in the published decision report. 
 

Yes 

9 March  
2020 

Cllr Dave 
Norman  
 
Cabinet Member  
Public 
Protection, 
Parking and 
Libraries 

Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service  
2018-2019 Statement of Assurance 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Public 
Protection, Parking and Libraries decided to 
reject the alternative options and take the 
recommended decision to: -  
 
Adopt and subsequently publish the 2018-2019 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Statement of Assurance for the reasons set out 
in the published decision report. 

No 

31 Mar 
2020 

Cllr Carole 
Allaway Martin  
 
Cabinet Member 
Adult Social 
Care 
Commissioning 

Mental Health Accommodation Based 
Support 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member - Adult Social 
Care: Commissioning decided to reject the 
alternative options and take the recommended 
decision to: 
 
Delegate authority to the Executive Director, 
Adults Social Care, to award to the incumbent 
supplier, (namely, Gloucestershire Health and 
Care Foundation Trust), without further 
competition (i.e. direct award) a six month 
contract, commencing 22 April 2020, for the 
supply of Mental Health Supported 
Accommodation services for the reasons set out 
in the published decision report. 

Yes 

Page 78



3 
 

6 Apr 
2020 

Cllr Lyndon 
Stowe  
 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance and 
Change  
 

Direct award of a contract for stationery and 
office supplies 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change decided to reject the alternative options 
and take the recommended decision to delegate 
authority to the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources to: 
 
(1) Award to the supplier known as Banner 
Business Services Ltd, without further 
competition (i.e. direct award), a 5 year call-off 
contract for the supply of office supplies under a 
Kent County Council single supplier framework, 
(the “KCS Framework”), in accordance with the 
rules of that framework; 
 
(2) Delegate authority to the Head of Legal 
Services to execute such contract by affixing the 
council’s seal thereto. 
 
For the reasons set out in the published decision 
report. 
 

Yes 

21 Apr 
2020 

Cllr Carole 
Allaway-Martin 
 
Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social 
Care: 
Commissioning 

COVID-19 Social Care Providers at Risk - 
Support Proposal 
 
This decision was implemented as an urgent 
decision under the Council’s Special Urgency 
Rules. 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care: Commissioning, 
decided to reject the alternative options and take 
the recommended decision to delegate authority 
to the Executive Director of Adults Social Care 
to:  
 

1. Pay community and bed based care 
providers with whom GCC contracts a 
10% per month uplift on their usual 
contract rates during the period 1st April 
2020 to 31st May 2020 (two months), in 
order to provide them with short term 
financial support for the purpose of 
meeting additional costs due to COVID-19 
and securing market capacity.  

 
2. In consultation with the Cabinet Member 

and section 151 officer, to extend the 

Yes 

Page 79



4 
 

terms of relief on a monthly basis for the 
length of the COVID 19 crisis up to a 
maximum of 6 months. Extension will only 
occur after a review that the funds are 
being spent as proposed and that this 
remains the most appropriate way of 
allocating funds  
 

For the reasons set out in the published decision 
report. 
 

26 Apr 
2020 

Cllr Tim Harman  
 
Cabinet Member 
for Public Health  

COVID-19 Commissioning of additional 
mental health services for adults, children 
and young people during the Covid-19 
outbreak. 
 
This decision was implemented under the 
Council's Special Urgency Rules. 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Public 
Health and Communities, decided to reject the 
alternative options and take the recommended 
decision to delegate authority to the Director of 
Public Health to:  
 

1. Award to the supplier known as Xenzone, 
without further competition (i.e. direct 
award), a contract for the provision of an 
online mental health support service for 
adults (known as “Qwell Digital”). Such 
contract shall continue for an initial period 
of 9 months and include an option to 
extend its term for a further period of not 
more than 3 months. 

 
2. Award to the supplier known as Xenzone, 

without further competition (i.e. direct 
award), a contract for the provision of an 
online mental health support service for 
young people (known as “Kooth Digital”).  
Such contract shall continue for an initial 
period of 9 months and include an option 
to extend its term for a further period of 
not more than 3 months. 

 
3. Award to the provider known as 

Gloucestershire Counselling Services, 
without further competition (i.e. direct 
award), a contract for the provision of 
counselling services. Such contract shall 
continue for an initial period of 9 months 

Yes 

Page 80



5 
 

and include an option to extend its term 
for a further period of not more than 3 
months. 

 
4. Award to the provider known as 

Plan4Sport, without further competition 
(i.e. direct award), a contract for the 
provision of online mental health training 
resources and wellbeing support for 
community volunteers. Such contract shall 
continue for an initial period of 6 months 
and include options to extend its term for 
not more than two further 3 month 
periods. 

 
5. Transfer funding to Gloucestershire 

Clinical Commissioning Group (“GCCG”) 
(in accordance with the terms of a Section 
76 Agreement between the council and 
GCCG) for the purpose of GCCG 
commissioning the provision of a mental 
health helpline service for young people 
(for a period of 12 months) under a 
contract with the supplier known as Teens 
in Crisis (TIC+) for the reasons set out in 
the published decision report. 

 

12 May 
2020 

Cllr Nigel Moor 
 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment 
and Planning 

B4063 Cheltenham to Gloucester Cycle 
Improvements – Delivery of Detailed Design 
 
Having fully considered all available information, 
the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning decided to reject the alternative options 
and take the recommended decision to delegate 
authority to the Executive Director of Economy, 
Environment & Infrastructure, (in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member), to: 
 

a) Enter into a Consultancy Services 
Agreement with Highways England, 
relating to the delivery of the detailed 
design of the Scheme, provided a prior 
decision by Highways England under their 
designated funds programme has been 
made to fully fund the delivery of such 
detailed design; and 

 
b) Instruct the council’s highways 

professional services supplier (namely 
Atkins) to begin work on the detailed 
design of the Scheme for the reasons set 
out in the published decision report.  

Yes 

Page 81



6 
 

12 May 
2020 

Cllr Patrick 
Molyneux 
 
Cabinet Member 
for Economy, 
Education and 
Skills 

Community and Adult Skills Programmes 
2020-2021 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Education and Skills decided to reject the 
alternative options and take the recommended 
decision to delegate authority to the Director of 
Economy, Environment and Infrastructure to: 
 

1. Enter into a funding agreement with the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency 
(ESFA), under which the council shall 
receive ESFA funding for the purpose of 
delivering Community Learning and Adult 
Skills Programmes for the 2020 – 2021 
academic year; 

 
2. The Director of Economy, Environment 

and Infrastructure will continue to award, 
during the academic year 2020 - 2021, a 
series of 12 month call-off contract(s) for 
the supply of learning to adult learners, 
(utilising ranking criteria), from the 
providers appointed under a four year 
framework agreement in 2018 (up to the 
value of £499,999 in respect of any single 
call-off contract). Individual call-off 
contracts whose values exceed £250,000 
in value will be made in consultation with 
the relevant Cabinet Member. Any call-off 
contract with a value of £500,000 or more 
shall be the subject of a separate Cabinet 
decision or Cabinet Member decision. 
(This is a continuation of the procedure 
under the Framework Contract previously 
authorised by Cabinet in April 2018),  
 
For the reasons set out in the published 
decision report. 
 

Yes 

3 Jun 
2020 

Cllr Patrick 
Molyneux 
 
Cabinet Member 
for Economy, 
Education and 
Skills 

Statutory Notice for proposal to increase the 
number of places to 208 pupils and alter the 
age range from 4 to 19 years to 7 to 19 years 
at the Alderman Knight Special School, 
Tewkesbury 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Education and Skills decided to reject the 
alternative options and take the recommended 
decision to: - 

Yes 

Page 82



7 
 

 
Delegate authority to the Acting Director of 
Education to issue the statutory notice of the 
proposal to increase the number of places at 
Alderman Knight Special School, Tewkesbury to 
208 pupils and to alter the age range from 4 -19 
years to 7 – 19 years with effect from September 
2020 for the reasons set out in the published 
decision report. 
 

9 Jun 
2020 

Cllr Carole 
Allaway-Martin 
 
Cabinet Member: 
Adult Social 
Care - 
Commissioning 

COVID-19 Infection Control Grant, 
Distribution to Providers 
 
This decision was implemented under the 
Council's Special Urgency Rules. 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care: Commissioning, 
decided to reject the alternative options and take 
the recommended decision to delegate authority 
to the Executive Director of Adults Social Care 
to:  
 

1. Pay providers of bed-based care in care 
homes in Gloucestershire, including those 
with whom the council does not have a 
contract, 75% of grant funds received 
pursuant to the Determination on a per 
bed basis in two instalments (the first in 
June 2020 and the second in July 2020).  
 

2. Pay providers of community-based care in 
Gloucestershire, including those with 
whom the council does not have a 
contract, 25% of grant funds received 
pursuant to the Determination based on 
size of provider in two instalments (the 
first in June 2020 and the second in July 
2020).  
 

3. Allocate and award any future grant 
payments to providers of adult social care 
from the Adult Social Care Infection 
Control Fund on the same basis as set out 
in Paragraphs 1 and 2 in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning and subject to the grant 
conditions.  

 
For the reasons set out in the published decision 
report.  

Yes 

Page 83



8 
 

18 Jun 
2020 

Cllr Patrick 
Molyneux 
  
Cabinet Member 
for Economy, 
Education and 
Skills 
 

Accessibility Strategy 2020-2022 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Education and Skills decided to reject the 
alternative options and take the recommended 
decision to: - 
 
Approve Gloucestershire County Council’s 
Accessibility Strategy 2020-22 
 
For the reasons set out in the published decision 
report. 

Yes 

22 Jun Cllr Lynden 
Stowe 
 
Cabinet Member: 
Finance and 
Change 

Managed Print Contract (Canon) – Direct 
Award 
 
Having considered all the available information, 
Cllr Lynden Stowe, the Cabinet Member: Finance 
and Change decided to reject the alternative 
options and take the recommended decision to -  
 
i) Delegate authority to the Head of Delivery 
Services to undertake negotiations to extend the 
term of the council’s current “Managed Print 
Solution” contract with Canon UK Ltd (in respect 
of Lots A & B thereof); and 
 
ii) Delegate authority to the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources, on conclusion of such 
negotiations, to extend the term of the council 
contract by two years to expire on 31st January 
2023. 
 
For the reasons set out in the published decision 
report 
 

Yes 

22 Jun 
2020 

Cllr Richard 
Boyles 
 
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Children’s 
Safeguarding 
and Early Years 

Young People’s Sufficiency Strategy: Semi-
Independent Accommodation and Support 
Services 
 
This decision was taken using the Council’s 
General Exception Procedure Rules.  
 
Cllr Richard Boyles, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years, considered all the available information, 
rejected the alternative options and decided to 
take the recommended decision to: 
 

1. Approve an increase in the estimated 
maximum contract value for semi 

Yes 

Page 84



9 
 

independent accommodation and support 
services for vulnerable young people from 
£10.8m to £13m. 

 
2. Confirm the previous decision taken on 24th 

April 2019 that, upon conclusion of the 
competitive tender process, delegated 
authority be given to the Executive Director 
of Children’s Services, (in consultation with 
Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years), to enter into 
a contract with the preferred provider 
evaluated as offering the council best value 
for money. 

 
For the reasons set out in the report. 
 

15 Jul 
2020 

Cllr Patrick 
Molyneux 
  
Cabinet Member 
for Economy, 
Education and 
Skills 
 

Proposal to close Christ Church C of E 
Primary School 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Education and Skills decided to reject the 
alternative options and take the recommended 
decision to: - 
 
Approve the closure of Christ Church C of E 
Primary School with effect from 31st August 
2021. 
 
For the reasons set in the published decision 
report.  
 

Yes 

27 Jul 
2020 

Cllr Patrick 
Molyneux 
 
Cabinet Member: 
Economy, 
Education and 
Skills 
 

Implementation of the proposal to increase 
number of places at alderman knight special 
school, Tewkesbury to 208 pupils and to alter 
the age range from 4 -19 years to 7 – 19 years 
with effect from September 2020 
 
Having fully considered all available information, 
the Cabinet Member: Economy, Education and 
Skills decided to reject the alternative options 
and take the recommended decision to: 
 

 Approve the permanent expansion at 
Alderman Knight Special School, 
Tewkesbury, to increase the number of 
pupils to 208 pupils and to alter the age 
range from 4 -19 years to 7 – 19 years 
with effect from September 2020. 

 

 Delegate authority to the Assistant 

Yes 

Page 85



10 
 

Director of Asset Management and 
Property Services to: 

 
i) Use the Gloucestershire County 

Council approved Major Project 
Framework (or such replacement 
Framework) to identify and appoint a 
contractor for the building works to 
expand the school and 

 
ii) Award the contract in consultation with 

the Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Education and Skills, for the reasons 
set out in the published decision 
report. 
 

28 Jul 
2020 

Cllr Dave 
Norman 
 
Cabinet Member 
for Public 
Protection, 
Parking and 
Libraries 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
(GFRS) Integrated Risk Management Plan 
(IRMP) 2018 – 2021 One Year Extension 
 
Having fully considered all the available 
information, Cllr Norman decided to reject the 
alternative options and take the recommended 
decision for the reasons set out in the published 
decision report to: 
 
Authorise the extension of the current IRMP 
2018 - 2021 for a further year, supported by a 
one year IRMP Action Plan for 2021 - 22. A three 
year IRMP from 2022 – 25 will be produced to be 
concurrent with the GCC Council Strategy. 
 

No 

28 Jul 
2020 

Cllr Mark 
Hawthorne 
 
Leader of 
Council 

Covid 19 Gloucestershire Local Outbreak 
Management Plan (GLOMP) and allocation of 
the Local Authority Covid-19 Test and Trace 
Service Support Grant 
 
The following decision was considered using the 
Council’s general exception rules. 
 
Having considered all the available information, 
Cllr Hawthorne decided to reject the alternative 
options and take the recommended decision for 
the reasons set out in the published decision 
report to: 
 

1. Adopt the Local Outbreak Management 
Plan;  

 
2. Delegate authority to the Director of Public 

Health, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Public Health and 

Yes 

Page 86



11 
 

Communities, to  
 

a. Allocate the Local Authority Covid-19 
Test and Trace Service Support Grant 
in order to deliver the objectives in the 
Local Outbreak Management Plan; 

 
b. Review and revise the plan as 

necessary in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic and national guidance. 

 

30 Jul Cllr Richard 
Boyles 
 
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Children’s 
Safeguarding 
and Early Years 

COVID-19 Emergency Assistance Fund for 
Food and Essential Supplies 
 
This decision was implemented in accordance 
with the Council’s Special Urgency Rules. 
 
Having considered all the available information, 
Cllr Boyles decided to reject the alternative 
options for the reasons set out in the published 
decision report and take the recommended 
decision to: 
 

1. Allocate Gloucestershire’s grant from the 
government’s COVID-19 Local Authority 
Emergency Assistance Grant for Food and 
Essential Supplies to provide emergency 
welfare payments to be distributed through 
the COVID-19 Emergency Living Fund and 
COVID-19 Children’s Fund and 

 
2. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director 

for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning to: 

 
a. Establish a COVID-19 Emergency 

Assistance Fund Panel to oversee 
the administration of the fund and 
advise on the payments, as detailed 
in the attached Terms of Reference; 
 

b. Authorise payments from the fund in 
consultation with the panel; 

 
c. Vary the Council’s existing contract 

with Auriga for administration and 
distribution of the fund to 
beneficiaries. 

 

Yes 

Page 87



12 
 

26 Aug 
2020 

Cllr Patrick 
Molyneux 
 
Cabinet Member: 
Economy, 
Education and 
Skills 
 

Continuation of the Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Joint Committee 
September 2020 to March 2022 
 
Having considered all the available information, 
the Cabinet Member: Economy, Education and 
Skills decided to reject the alternative options 
and take the recommended decision to: 
 

1. Waive and remove the twelve months’ 
notice period set out in the Inter-Authority 
Agreement (IAA) dated 4 September 2014 
required to extend the IAA, including 
removing the need for future notice 
periods, and 
 

2. Agree to the GEGJC continuing to operate 
from September 2020 for a period of 
eighteen months and 
 

3. Agree and complete the appropriate legal 
formalities to allow the IAA to be extended 
for 18 months to enable the GEGJC to 
continue until March 2022. 

 
For the reasons are set out in the decision report. 
 

No 

26 Aug 
2020 

Cllr Lynden 
Stowe 
 
Cabinet Member: 
Finance and 
Change 

Direct award of a contract for stationery and 
office supplies 
 
Having considered all the available information, 
Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member: Finance 
and Change, decided to reject the alternative 
options and take the recommended decision to: 
 
Delegate authority to the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources, (in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Change), to: 
 

(1) Award to the supplier known as Banner 
Business Services Ltd, without further 
competition (ie, direct award) a 5 year call-
off contract for the supply of office 
supplies under a Crown Commercial 
Service (CCS) framework (RM6059) in 
accordance with the direct award criteria 
thereunder;  

 
(2) Authorise the Head of Legal Services to 

execute such contract by affixing the 
council’s seal thereto. 

 

Yes 

Page 88



13 
 

For the reasons set out in the published decision 
report. 

 

If there are any queries relating to the decisions referred to in this statement, please 

contact Jo Moore, (Democratic Services Unit):  

 

Tel: 01452 324196 Email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Page 89

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2021 JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

County Council   10am 17 17 AGM
19*

30 8 8

Cabinet  10am 27 24 23 21 22 10 22

Appointments Committee 10am 5

Constitution Committee  2pm 18 8 14 11

Appeals Panel: Access to Education 10am 29 25 12 14 9 3 15 4 2

Planning Site Visit
Planning Committee  10am 

21
28

11
18

3
10

1
8

23
30

11
18

Commons & Rights of Way Committee 10am 
Traffic Regulation Committee  10am 9

23
15

7
28 6

5 2
7

Audit and Governance Committee  10am 22 25 30 8

Corporate Overview Scrutiny Committee  10am 7 19 24 22 29 1

Adult Social Care & Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 10am

26 9 22 6 7 9

Children & Families Scrutiny Committee  10am 14 4 17 15 16 25

Environment Scrutiny   Committee   10am 13 3 16 14 9 23

Police Crime Panel   10am 9 23 7 28 3

Health Scrutiny Committee   10am 12 2 15 13 14 16

Glos. Health & Wellbeing Board  10am 19 16 8 20 21 2

Joint Waste Committee   10am 

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 12



* Please note Council AGM May 2020 postponed to 19 May 2021

Pensions Committee  10am 12 18 24 12 3

Economic Growth Joint Com  10am 
Economic Growth Scrutiny Com 1.30pm 20

10
10

9
9

15
15 20

17
17

Members’ Seminar  10am 22 19 18

P
age 92


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Corporate Parenting
	CPG Annual Report 2019-20

	8 Motions
	10 Scrutiny
	11a Cabinet 17 June 2020
	11b Cabinet 22 July 2020
	11c Individual Cabinet Member Decision Statements
	12 Calendar of meetings 2021

